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retitioners commenced this action by way of petition on 15th

Pecember, 2017, claiming;

An order and a decloration that the taking over of the Pelitioner's
customary  fand  without  following  the required procedurs s

unconstiiutiona! and (s therefore radl and void.
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A declaration and an order that the Petitioners are to continue
enjoying their lund in adogordance with the customary law of the ared

ardd its afttendant vights.

An order directed at the 57 gnd 5% Respordenis 1o cancel any
plocation, nssignmeant or cerfificate of tille that was issued to the 1
and 2rd respondents, winch covers the land that i3 occoupied, used,

and enjoued by the Petifichers under customary tenure.

An order for the restoration of the land bhack 1o the Petitioners of the

same extent that they hod historncally enjoyed.

An order and a declaration that the laking, desiruction of houses,
fields, crops, frutt, rees, jorests and closing of the roads used by the
Petitioners wolates therr rights o dignity, life, personal (hariy,
protection from torture, tnhuman and degrading punishmeant ar
Treatment, property, not o be subjected to entry by others on their
premises, freedom of association, freedam af movernent ond

residence and not to be treated in a discrimunalory meivner,

A declaraiion that! Section 33 of the Lands and Deeds Registry Act 1s
uncansitiufional as i resulls in the diminishment or termination of
customory lund  nghts without  the provision of adeguate

compensation.

A declaration that Sections 33, 34, and 35 of the Lands and Deeds
Registry Act are unconstitutional as they discriminote against the
rurcl communiiies occupping, using and enjoying customary land

rights arid riterests,
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A order and decloration that Sections 33, 34, and 23 of the Lands
and Deads Registry Act dre incompatible with Section 7 of the Lands

Act ard are therefore invalid,

An order and declaration that the land was aocgutred or ablamned
wnder fraud, mostake, and/or misrepresendation: and thus null and

ald and shonld e concelled,

n the alternative, a declaration that Sections 33, 349, and 35 of the

Lands and Deeds Regqistry Act have been repealed by the Lands Act

An order for damoges and compensalion for the deshroyed
properties, hwuses, crops and fruit lrees (bolh planted and from
nearty forests) and for depriving the Petitioners and their families
aid fhouseholds, access and use of ther customary land for the
perind the 4% gond 50 Respondents have been in possesston and use
af the property, contrary to Article 16 of the Constiiution and Section

7 of the Lands Act.

An ordder for damuages and compensation for all the suffering that the
Petitioners fuive beent urdawfully and unjusiifiably subjected o,
pursuant to Articles 8, 12, 13, 15, 17, 22, 23, 28, 256, and 2066 of

the Clonstitution of Zambia.

An order of mandotory relief reguinng the #5 grd 5% Respondents to
underfake reasonable and necessary remedial aclion in relation to
the enuironment and other damages to land, air, water and other
cnvtronmental aspects of the Pelitloner’s natural resources, or

alternolively, domages in lleu of the same.

Cosis.



xt.  Purther or other relief that the court may deem fit,

The pelition slates that the pefitioners are currently squalling in
Musangashi Forest Rescrve, following their forced displacement and
eviction from their ancestral land and villages in Milumbe area, in Senior
Chief Muchinda, in the Serenje Disirict ol Central Province of the
Republic of Zammbia, They state that they sue on their own behall, and on

behalf of their respeclive [amilies and households,

The petition further states thal the 1% respondent was the first registered
proprictor of Farm Ne IF/8597, Central Province, which covers all the
land where the petifoners had resided and used through generations
(hereinafter called the displaced land]) until July, 2013 when the
petitioners were displaced and forcefully evicted. It is further alleged that
the 2rd respondent 13 a commercial farmer, who purchased Farm No

F /o597, Central Province, Irom the 1% respondent.

The 37 respondent is said to have bought the said property [rom the 2n¢
respondent, and the 4 regpondent is said to bhe the current owner of
Farm No F/9597 Central Provinee. The 5% respondent on the other hand
iz gaid Lo be a commercial farmer, and manages the operations ol Farm
NWa 7095397, Central Province, and is the person that personally directed
and supervised the forced evietiona and destruction of the petitioner’s

properties in 2013,

The petitioners allege that the respondents and certain provisions of the
Lands and Deeds Registry Act, Chapter 185 of the Laws of Zambia have
violated the petitioner's rights, as protected by Articles 8, 12, 13, 15, 16,

17, 22, 23, 28, 256, and 266 of the Consllution of Zambia, In thisg
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regard, Lhe petitioners contend thar the respondents have violated their

rights 111 the [ollowing manner;

(i) lIl

by

&

dj

&

a/

Hormed the self worth and dignity of the petitioners’ oontrary fo

Article & of the Canstituiion,

Jeopardised he pelifioners’ bare life necessities, ncluding housing,
nutritton, clothing, water and shelter, contrary to Article 12 of the

Constitutor.

Humiliated and debased the petitioners’, contrary te Article 15 of the

Constitution.

Took away the pefifioners’ rights and interests in the disputed land
without providing them with compensation, contrary to Arlicle 16 of

the Constitution.

Entered  the petitioners’ properfies and premizes without the

petitioners” consent, and destroyed houses, properties, assels, crops

—

and wprocted frull frees, contrary to Articles 10 and 17 of the

Coristittidior.

Oemolishied and desiroyed houses and properties, azsets, crops and
uprooted  trees and forcefully evicted the petilioners fram their

nabitual residence contrary to Article 22 of the Constitulion.

Fenced off the disputed land, employed security guards to prevent
the pefitioners’ decess to the disputed land, thereby serally
restricting thelr abifity lo associate with thelr relatives wnd (friends
Srom  Miumbe orea, contrary fo Arbicles 21 and 22 of the

Constiuiing.



hi Denying the pelitioners as rural residents on customary terure, the

legal protections and priviieges that are offered to those on Stale
laridd, contrary fo Article 23 and 266 of the Constitution,

fridirectly discriminofed against the pefifoner’s wives, as rural
women who hoave o bear the disproportionate impact of the loss of
the land and soctal networks, contrary to Aricles 23 and 266 of the
Constifulion,

Derited the peliioners and the long term rural residentis, adequats
proteciion of their legal customary land rights and privileges contrary

tn Article 7 of the Lunds Act,

A regards the violation of the petitioners’ dignity, it is contended that

the respondents have;

i,

Sutyected the peitioners fo wuncompensated displacements and
forced eviclions;

Rendering the peittioners homeless, lundless and destitute, forcing
them to spend months sleeping in the opern during the cold and raing

SEEASTS,

Subjeciing them to o number of negative soctal, ecanamic apd
polilical impacts:;

Jeopardized the petitioners” ability to meet the bare necessities of

ife, including food, nutrition, clothing, shelter and water:
Discriminated agoinst them and thetr wives as rurol residents;

Derued them adequate protection of thelr customary lond rights;
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it.  Tumned them wnia squatfers af the mercy af the 4% and 5™
respariderits now considered as the owners af the digputed land,

thich (s the petitioniers’ ancestral customary lencd;

vil.  Subfecting the petitioners to the mercy of the Forest Management of
Zambia for thelr continued sguatting e the Musangashi Forest

Reserve;

. Completely destroying their social identity by clearing the disputed
lang and furning thelr villoges on the dispuled land into soya beans

and wheat fields)

x.  Subjecting them to anguish and grief as they watched the groves
ared bunal sites of ther deceosed parenits and ancestors razed, aned
in some coses, bones exhumed ns the burial sites were furned into

soya - pewns and wheat felds.

The petitioners barther contend that their forced evictions and
displacements from the dispuled land into the Musangashi Forest
Reserve has rvesulted in the petitivners® sulfering illnesses, and even
death, as after their displacement, the petitioners’ and their families
spent months sleepimg m the open and the cold during the rainy season,
Further, they have conbinued to struggle with chronic water and food
shartages, il health, very bad housing, lack of livelihood oplionis and

public services since 2013,

This they contend, has violated their right to live with dignily, conlrary to
Articles 8 and 12 of the Constitution. The petition also alleges that the
respondents acts and or omissions have violated the petitioners’ right to
liberty and protecticn of the law by denying them the ability to enjoy and

use the land ag they pleasc, contrary to Article 13 of the Constitution, It



18 slso contended rhat the petitioners’ rights under the said arncle have
been further wiolated hy the respondents fencmg off, blocking, and
closing the routes and roads, and planting of crops on the disputed land,

making it impossible [or the pelttioners o move freely.

The petitioners farther allege that in fear of the destruction of their
properties, temporal houses and tents 11 the Musangashi Forest Rescrve,
they have been forced to stay home, in watclh over their properiies, assels

and families.

The wiclaliorn of the petiioners’ rights under Article 153 of the
Constitution is stated as being due to the taking over of their land,
destraction of their properties, nouses, food, crops and fruit trees, and
the eventual forced eviction: by the 4th and 5" respondents, and
subjecting the petitioners te both psychological and physical lorture, and
inhuman and degrading treatment finvelving intimidalion, coercion and
viplerice).

On the violation of the petitioners® rights under Article 16 of the
Conatitution and Section 4(3] () of the Lands Act, thev state that it is
due to the allocation or alienation of the petitioners’ custonmiary land to
the 1=t respondent, and/or conversion of the petitioners’ customary land
mto state land, without consulting them and obtaining their consent,
which amounts to compulsory acquisition. The pettioners further state
that the 7th and 8% respondents did not follow the mandatory procedural
requiremernts for compulsorily taldng of customary land.

=lll on compulsory  gcgquisibion, the petitioners™ allege that the
compulsory acguwisiticn of their customary land without providing them

with adegquate compensalion, and the subsegquent assignmenl of the
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disputed land to rhe 1% to the 9% respondents, makes the compulsory
actpiigition, not for a public purpose, and 1t was therelore conlrary Lo

Section 3 of the Lends Acqguesition Acl.

Tho petitioners also allege in the aliernative, that the allocarion of the
land to the 18 respondent was done by fraud, mistake and
misrepresentation, and was thus null and void. The particulars of the

alleged fraud, mistake and misrepresentation are stated as;

L. The &% respondernd riot nspectiry the dispuied fand and not filing
any repart to confirm that the enfire 2040 hectares af the now
property  number FU597 Central Prouvinee was free of tllage

gaftlaments.

i The 19 and &% respondents’ representation to the Commissioner of
Lands that 1300 hectares of the dispuled land was free of wllage
getllement wos misleading, as the dispuled land has always been

occupied, vwred and wiilized by the pelitioners.

i, That the B resporcdent mistakenly allocated the 14 resporndent 2040
hectares when the O respondent’s submission for ndmbering
specyically  stated that fhe 6% respondent approved the 12
respondent’s application for form land in Luombiwea areq of 1, 300

heclares,

. JThe Sl respondent mistekenly alivcated praperty number B/ 9597
Cenlral Provines o the 15 respondent despite the focol that there was
ria consenl from Senmior Chief Muchinda authonzing the 75
respondent o sellle i s Chiefdom,. I is further steled (haf the
authorization Jrom Seruor Chiel Muchinda (hal was submitled

together whlrt the skeich map were in favour of an mdiidual Enown
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as Mr P.L. ¥Yssel and not the 19 respondent, which is an incorporated

corrpariy fnnted by shares,

The petition farther states that their rights under Article 17 of the
Caonstitution have been violated as the 49 and 5% respondents entered
on their properbes and preomises and destroved their houses, shelters
amd crops, withowur their consent, thereby violating their mghts not to be

subijected to entry by athers on their premises without their consent.

That the 4t and 3* respondent further violated the petitioners’ rights o
freedom of movement and residence, under Article 22 of the
Consutution. by Laking ther customary land and destroying their
housges, [elds, crops, Iuats and forest. The petitioners contend that
Sectien 33 of the Lands Act and Deeds Registry Act has created a
simuation wherehy raral residents who have occupled customary land [or
generations can lose their legitmate customary land righls and their

interests without compensation.

They allege thal this resulls in such residents hecoming squatters on
their own land, once a cerlificate of title for their land is issued to
another person, thereby violating Article 16 of the Constitution of Zambia
and Section 7 of the Lands Act. It 15 further alleged thar the exastence of
Sections 33 and 39 of the Lands and Deeds Hegistry Act creates and
perpetuates situations whereby persons hving on state land enjoy
security of tenure over rthe tenure provided to rural communities, whao

enjoy accupancy and user nghts under customary tenure, and volales

Article 23 of the Constitution.

The petinoners also contend that Sections 33, 34 and 35 of the Lands

and Decds Registry Act create and perpetuate a situation Lhat malkes it
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difficult for rursl comnunities living on customary land to seek legal
redress, where their customary land is claimed by a person who has
acguired a certificate of tde, as compared w oral testimonies by persons

ocoupying unregistered customary land,

Furlher, that Sectionis 33, 34 and 35 of the Lands and Deeds Registry
Act have created real risks for the petitioners, and the majority of the
rural Zambian communities, eapecially with the mereasing demand lor
customary land, as it [acilitates the diminishment of customary land
righits by both the national elite and loreign investors, thereby violaring

Article 16 of the Conatitution and Section 7 of the Lands Act.

The contention is alse that Section 33 of the Lands and Deeds Registry
Act iz contrary to, and meonsistent, with Sectiom 7 of the Lands Act,
which 15 subsequent legislation fthat, by impheation, repeals earlier
legislanon that 1s imconsistent with its provisions. In this regard, the
petitioners statec that Scecoon 33 of the Lands and Dcecds Regisloy Act
neither acknowledges customary land rights, nor makes the registered
proprietor subject to prior unregistersd customary land righes, It only
males the registered proprietor subject to the interests of a proprietor

claiming under a current priar certificate of title.

The petiboners alse claim that Section 35 of the Lands ang Deeds
Registry Act is contrary to, and inconsistent with Section 7 of the Lands
Act, which is subsequent legislation, that, by implication, repeals earlier
legislation hal 1s inconsistent wath its provisions. The petibioners state
that Becuorn: 35 ol the Lands and Deeds Registry Act provides for the
restriction on gjectment alter issuance ol a certificale of litle, and il does
riot acknowledge pror customary land nghts among the permitled

excepiions for bringing an action lor possession or recovery of land,



[n the affidavit filed in support ol the petition, which is deposed to by the
16! petitioner; he states that he is the Secretary of the community that
the 4t and 5 respondents evicted and displaced, heremmaller called the
displaced community. The 15 petitioner further deposes Lhal he was born
in 1964 in an area known as Milumbe near the Mulembo river, which is
now called Billis Farm, and ig the disputed land, He exhibits as 'MC1), a

copy of his national registration card.

The 1% petitioner avers that his house and that of the displaced
community were on the disputed land along the Mulembo niver, and that
his parents and many of his relabves going back generations, and those
ol the displaced comtmanity, lived and are buried on the disputed land.
He states that the disputed land was traditional land, which was

regmilated and administered in accordance with Lala tradition,

It is stated that from the tume the 15 petitioner became of age unul
sometime m 2012, he had not heard anyone claim their customary land
or ¢hallenge their customary land rights 1 oany way, He lurther states,
thal however, in 2001, the 8% petvoner, Kunda Musonda, who had
established and owned villages on the olther side of the Mulembo river
together with the Sth petitioner, Giliat Mumba, the 69 petitioner, Petson
Mumba and the 7th petitioner, Esmme Sunlula Mumba informed them

that they had seen some government officials and an investor that they

around the disputed land at the edge of his field.

The deponent states that in order to understand what was going on, they
approached the government officials and Mr Pieter Yssel, and they were

informed that Mr ¥ssel had bought some land near their area, from their



Chief. Thus, thevy were mspectng Lhe area so that they could mark oul

and demarcate Mr Yezel's land.

The petitioners being wary as the government officials did not explain
anvlhing other than the fact that Mr Yesel had baught some fand, and
they were walking near the 3t (o 80 petitioners land, sent the late
headman Kunda o go and find out from the Chief whether mdeed some
land had been sold to Mr Yasel. It is averred that the headman reported
back that the Chief had denied the allegation that he had sold the
disputed land to Mr Yssel, stating that the Chiel had stated that he had
just piven a small piece of land to Yssel, which was unaccupied, and far

away from the disputed land.

It is stated that lwo (2] months later, Mr Yasel moved onte lhe semall
piece of land along ithe Luembwa river, and ne started consiructing
houses and he cleared the land. However, they observed that Mr Yssel
was expanding his land clearing from the Luombwa nver towards the
fields of the 5t to 8 petitioners who were on the other side of the
Mulembo river, Thus, they invited the Chicl to a mecting so that he could

clarify the issue of the land to the displaced communicy.,

However, the Chiel did nol attend, but instead sent his retamer with a
letter explaining the issue, and the Chief also sent another letter to Mr
Yasel. 1L is staled Lthat the meeting was held ar Mr Yssel's office, and
present m lhat meeting was Mr Yssel, headman Kunda, the Chief's
relainer and a teacher from Ntenga school who was nviled by the

headman to reagd the letter from the Chief.

The averment is that memberas of the displaced community wated

oulside, and the teacher from Ntenga school read the letter from the



Chiefl n the 1* peltioner’s presence, as well as in the presence of Mr
Yasel, the Chiel's retainer and the headman, It is deposed thal the Chiels
letler stated that he had not sold the dispuled land te Mr Yssel but that
he had authorized him to find and occupy a small portion of vacant land
altong the Luombwa river, which was far away from where the displaced

community hved and larmed.

Further, that the land given to Mr Yssel did not include any of their land,
The 1# peritioner alsn states that during the meecung, police started
threatening some members ol the displaced community, especially the
women with tesr pag. The 1# petitioner deposes that some members of
the displaced community became upset and told the police to shoot
them, and as a result, atter the letter from the Chief was read, the
meeting ended. Then within a month of that meeting, another meeting
was held at which Mr Yssel stated that he would like to live in peace with

the displaced community as neighbours.

He had further added that he appreciated the security barrier thart their
villages provided against potential thieves, At that meeting, Mr Yssel had
even asked members of the displaced community that were willing fo
work lor him 1o do so, so that they could earn some extra income. It is
also deposed thar towards the end of 2001, Mr Ys=sel had approached the
displaced community asking that he be allowed to assess the value of the
fruir trees around their houses, their fields, crops as well as their houses,
g0 that he could pay them money, and find them alternalive land as

compensation, if they agreed to move from the disputed land.

The 1st petitioner deposes that they specifically told Mr ¥ssel that they
did not ever want o move from the land, as it was part of their iWdentity,

and that their parents and grandparents were buried there, and they
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would like o die and be huried there too. He slates that Mr Yasel
respected their views, and he never bothered them again, The 1
petitioner goes on to depose that sometime in 2002, they stopped secing
Mr ¥ssel on the disputed land, where he had constructed houses and
cleared the fislds. In the same vear, a man named John Kaite who was
based in Kasama started visiting the houses and Gelds that Mr Yesel had

conarructed and occupled.

The 1= petiioner [urther slates thal in 2003, Mr Kaite went to the area
and e called a meeting, which was attended by members ol ilhe
displaced community. He deposes that at that meeting, Mr Kale
informed the members of the displaced community that he was the new
pwner of the land that was ocoupied and uscd by Mr Yssel, He further
informed the displaced community that he would visit them within a
short period to sce their villages and helds, and discuss how they would

be expected Lo Iive as neighbours,

Then alter a weel of that meeting, Mr Kaite visited and toured all eleven
(1] villages, and after the tour, Mr Kaite asked that they should not
increase the nmamber of villages in the area. He had also requested that
the four [4) villages that were already established on the other side of the
Mulembo river be moved to the side where e other seven [7) villages
were established. The 14 pelitioner avers thal Mr Kaite attributed this as
being lo enable him expand and clear the land thal was left by Mr Yssel

from Lhe Luctmbwa river to near the Mulembo river.

Further, that Mr Kaite had promised o compensale the lour (4} villages if
they agreed Lo move, However, members of the displaced commuanity who
owned the [our (4) villages that were established on the other side of the

Mulembo river refused Lo allow Mr Kaite 1o expand and clear the land
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from the Luombwa rmiver to near the Mulembo river, as they all depended
on the forest between the Luombwa and Mulembo rivers to access torest

based resources.

The 1sl pelitioner states that following the refusal by the owners of the
four (4} villages, Mr Kaite informed them that he would call another
meeting =0 that they could discuss how they would live as neighbours,
but he did not do so, when he visited the fields and houses later in 2003,
The averment is that {rom there, they did net hear from Kaile, and m
2004, thev neard rumours that Mr Kaite had lell the area, and that

another peraon would oo and talee over Mr Kaite's small area.

It is deposed that the person who took over Mr Kaite's land did oot call
any meeting, and ncither did they request 1o expand the area that was
originally cccupied by Mr Yssel, Further, that person did not request the
displaced communily to move, and neither did they engage in farmmg
and they did not bother the displaced community until 2012, when the

Ji= and 50 reapandents went to the disputed land.

The contention 15 that neither Mr Yssel, Mr Kaite or the person who Look
over from Mr Kaite occupied, or used any part of the disputced land where
the displaced community resided, farmed and accessed lorest products.
It is deposcd thal the displaced community continued with their way of
Life using the displaced land as they had done from the time that they
imherited 1l lrom their parents, withoul any disturbance or disrption of
any kind, To that effect, they continued eultivating different crops far
[ood, inciuding maize, wheat, cassava, sweet potatoes, beans,

groundnuts, and green leafy vegetables,
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The 1= petiticner deposes thal they grew sullicienl [ood Lo enable them
have three (3} meals in a day and ther sold the surphis to earn income,
Furlher, lhey conlinued accessing the forest’s nataral resources, such as
ntuanguihy, masuku, maundo, fungo, barks, seeds, roots, leaves and other
plants for food and sale in order (o cam their living, They also hunted
small ammals and birds, caught caterpillars from the forest and fished

Irom the Mulembo river,

That [rom those acbvities, they made reascnable incame to meet their
basic needs, and also boughl bricks and roofing sheets for their houses,
cooking oil, sugar, salt, spap and washing detergents, clothes and even
paid school fegs for their children, The 1 petilioner contends that it was
orly in 2012 when the A% and 5th respondents went to the disputed land
when the preblems started, He avers that in August, 2012, the 5=
respondent called the displaced community o a meeting and informed
them that he did not want people on the disputed land and he asked the

displaced comrunity to vacate the said land.

They however tnid him that they would not vacate the disputed land as il
was their ancestral land where they had been born, and they had lived
and farmed there going back generations. Further, thal (heir parents and
arandparents were buried on the land, as well as their other relatives. I
is also stated thal in September 2012, the displaced communily held
another meelng with the 5% respondent during which he had asked for

the village booles,

When shown the said village books, the 5 respondent threw them away,
claiming that they revealed nothing, and that he was paving ZMW3,
Q0000 every month o the 3rd respondent, Blue Vein Investments, and

ZMWI10, 000,00 to the government every year, On being asked how much
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the displaced community was paying as rent for the land that they
pccupied, they bad told the 52 respondent thal they paid nothing other
than ZMW.10 for a village book, as they had inherited the land as per

Lala tradition.

Then on 4=+ June, 2013, the 5% rezpeonident wenl to the dispuled land
with bulldozers and old the displaced communily 1o leave the land, as it
was his, and he had paid a lot of money to acqguire it. It is deposed that
when they refused to leave, the 5t respondent’s workers destroved the
houses, fruit trees; cassava and other crops and fields for the 5'h to 8

petitioners using two bulldozers, as the petitioners watched helplessly.

The 1 petboner alleges thalt there was no consultabion, notification,
compensgalion, provision ol alternative land or housing or opporodnity to
seelt lepal redress. as provided, before the 3@ respondent forcefully
evicted the 3™ ta &% petitioners and their families from the disputed
land. Further, the 4'h respandent and his waorkers did not seek and never
obtained the displaccd communities’ consent or permission before

enlering their propertics to carry out the forced eviction and destruction

of their properties,

It 15 contended thar the 3t o 8% petitioners and their [amilics were
treated unfairty and inhumanely, as il they are notl Zambian nationals,
and the displaced community was traumatized and shocked, as they
ohserved rtheir property and nearly evervthing ithat owned being
completely destroyed, as the 5 to 8th petitioners and their families were

nol given opportunity to get their assets or their household goods.

To the contrary, they had to ran away from their houses, in fear for their

hves, and they were unable to get their assets and household poods, as
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they were not given any notification, ahd they lost everything, save lur

the few articlies that they were able to pick.

The aflidavit goes [urther to state that the 1% to 49 and the Uth o 13

petitioners and their families who were established wvillagers on the nother
side of the Mulembo niver further away from the Luombwa river, thought
that the land they ccoupled was not part of the disputed land. However,
they were also [vreefully evicted Irom their land by the 5% respondent’s
workers, without notice, who carried them on a tractor and left them by

the roadside outside the disputed land.

Their househaolds, goods, fruits, trees, assets, fields and the crops therein
were destroyed, leaving them homeless, landless and destitute, as they
had nowhere w go wilh (hetr [amilies. The averment iz that they sought
the help of Serenje Districl Commissioner’s office, where they saw the
District Commissioner, Mr Charles Mwelwa, The said Districl
Commissioner even went to see the area, and they showed hum the
completely demaolished houses and properties, and theyv informed him

that they did not know how they were going o live.

It 1s deposcd thal the District Commissioner gat inte his vehicle with the
ot regpondentl after Llelling the displaced commumity that he would go
back, but unfortunately, he did not go back, That is how the displaced
community went inte Musangashi Forest Lo seck refuge, but they did not
have food, water of sneller. Further, they had very few tools for building
thetr homes, and they were loreed 1o sleep oul in the open for several

moniths during the cold and later the rainy season,

The 1% petitioner states that the oldest member of Lhe displaced

commumty, Sam Muoumba had his house demolished, and he was
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died whilst he was lrying Lo build another house during the rainy season,
He also deposes that when they first went into the forest, they made

aome temporary shelters out of grass where they would sleep with their

children.

However, despite settling in the Musangashi Forest Rescrve, the
displaced community did not stop pursuing the issue of the land, and
the 15 petitioner went to the District Commisgioner's office and asked
him to consider their plight. The District Commissioner told him that he
would report to the relevant government mstitutions in Lusaka, as well

as Lo the Permancenl Secretary in Central Provinee.

The 1= petlitioner deposes thal therealter, in September, 2013, the
District Commissioner wenl lo Musangashi Forest Reserve in the
company of the Permanent Sceretary for Central Provinee, Mrs Edwidge
Murtale and the Serenje Dislrict Agricultural Officer, Mr Goorge
Chisebhuka and the displaced community was given opporbanity to

explain their plight, through the 1% petitioner.

The displaced community at the reguest of the Permanent Secretary took
her and Districlt Commissioner to Musangashi Forest Reserve where they
were living, and 1o & place about five (3) kilometres away where they were
drawing water, which was yellow in colour, and both the Permanent
Secretary and the Districl Commissioner ook pholographs of the bad
warer and the temporary shelters,

It is averred that during that interaction, the Serenje District Agricultural
CHficer informed the District Commigsioner and 1he Permanent Secretary,

as well as the members of the displaced community that the records that
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were available al has olfice, indicated that the 3% respondent’s farm was
originally 360 hectares, but it was now 2000 hectares, which hectarage

included the displaced community's land.

The Serenje District Agnicultural Officer had further stated that when the
governmnent was eslablishing the Luombwea Farm Block in 1997, the
persons thar were on the dispured land were left because 1t was
conatdered to be customary land, as shown on the extract from the
Zambia Daily Mail dated 13" September, 2013 exhibited as "MC2° nitled

“Displaced Serenje Families in Anguish”.

It iz also deposed that the Permamnenl Secretary advised the displaced
comminity ta keep in contact with the office of the District
Commissioner at Serenje [Mstrict. She had further told them thart their
case was serious, and she promised to send them some renis. and that
she would also keep in touch with them, and would continue adwvising
them on how they would stay in the area, and have access Lo clean

waler,

That as promised by the Permanent Sceretary, madze and tents were sent
to the displaced community in the Musangashi Forest Reserve alter onc
weel. However, no meeting was held with the Chief, the &6t respondent,
the Serenmje District Council, or representatives of the government to
infurm them that the Chief wanted to give the land to the state or the 13
respondent, and neither were the displaced community asked if they

wishied Lo give the disputed land to the state or the 19 respondent,

The pelhioners deny having consented to the disputed land being given

to the state or the 1# respondent, and their contention 15 that they were
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done compulsorily,

Further, thal no one went to the disputed land to inspect it or assess the
displaced commmunites’ propertics and assels belore the land was
allocated fo the 1= respondent or the state, It i3 also deposed thal as by
2017, the pettioners were living in the Musangashl Forest Reserve for
almost five (&) years without any remedy or compensation, they decided
lo invesbizale o lind oul how their land was forcefully taken away fram
them, and given to the 410 and 5 responderncs, and they were metcilessly

evicted.

It 15 depased that the investigations revealed that on 220 Janmuaary, 1996,
the 18t respondent had apphed for Farm Ne 26 Luombwa in Serenje
Dislrict, as shoewn on the Annexure C form, dated 22v January, 1996,
which s exlubated sz ‘MC3' to the affidavit. Then on 249 January, 19496,
the 3« respondent's Works, Development and Social Services Commitiee
approved the 1% respondent’s application for [arming land in the

Luomhwa area in Serenje District.

The 1% respondent deposes that the application was adopted during the
13t ordinary Council meeting of the &' respondent on 281 March, 19956,
as evidenced by the mmutes of that meeting, which are exhibited as
MCS” and MCS to the affidavit. The deponent poes further to aver thal
they discovered that on 10t December, 1997, Senior Chief Muchinds
authorised Mr PL. Yssecl Lo setde as a commercial farmer along the
Luombwa river nesr the Mulembo River Block, and he was given 2000
hecrares of land, 2s shown on letter from the said Chief dated 10

February, 19949, exbubited as ‘MCS’ to the affidasit,
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lhe averment 15 that both Senior Chiel Muchinda and the 6% respondent
endorsed on the skerch map exhibited as 'MC7' to the affidavit, which
relates o Farm No 26, Luombwa Farm Block, which was prepared in
Jarmaary, 1997, and was endorsed by the 6% respondent on 110 March,

1997, and by the District Agriculture Gffice on 104 March, 1997,

The 1# petinoner further deposes that the 1+ respondentl completed an
appheaton lorm for Fann No 26 Luombwa, Serenje District, which was
approved by the Sereme District Council Secretary on 271 March, 19497,
and the said Council Secretary cerlificd that the appheation was
approved by the full Council meeting under item No PWDLL3/965(48] an
28t March, 1996,

It 15 averred that the District Council Secretary for the 89 respondent
stated that the land was frec from village settlements, and the applicant
had shown interest to develop the land. That this is evidenced by a copy
of the Annexure C fortn dated 270 March, 1997, exhibited as MOS to the
affidawvit. [t 15 further deposed that the investigations also established
thal the 6% respondent submitted eighl (8) copivs of sketch maps for
mambering in order to enable the Council recommend the 19

respondenl’s applicalion for a lease,

That as shown on exhibil ‘MCS°, a copy of the letter to the Commissioner
of Lands dated 271 March, 1997, the 6% respondent advised the 8t
respondent that it had approved the application for the 1% respondent for
[arm land in Luombwa in extent ol 1300 hectares. The averment is thal
onn 9 September, 19497, {he Assistant Lands Officer wrote to the 1=
respondent advising that only 250 hectares of the land had been
approved out of the 2040 hectares, and that it had to apply te the

Minister for the remainder,
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The letter extubiled as JE1O to the affidavit is said to be evidence of the
advice that wes givenn by the Assistant Lands Officer to the 1%
respondent. Then on 26™ December, 1997, the Acting Commissioner of
Lands sent & letter Lo the Minister advising thar the 1% respondent had
applied for the remaining 1790 hectares of land of the 2040 hecrares,
after 250 hectares had been approved, as shown on exhibat 'MC12' dated

L8 Decembear, 1997,

The Acting Commissioner of Lands had no objection to the application as
evidenced by the letler dated 26% December, 1997, exhibited as ‘MC11°.
The 1% petitioner states that on 28 May, 1995, the Deputy Permanent
Secretary in the Minisiry of Lands wrote to the 8% respondent, advising
that the Mmister of Lands had approved the remainder of the 1790
hectares of land, as evidenced by the letter exhibited as MC13" The &4
respondenl then issued a letter of offer to the 1% respondent relating ro
Farm No F /9597, Serenje Diatrict for a period [ourleen (14) years from 1%

May, 1995,

Exhibit MO T4 is a copy of the letter of offer, dated 2990 May, 1998, 1L is
statcd that the 1# respondenl was issued with a certificate of title
relating to Farm No 0/9397, Cenlral Province on 30t Jaly, 1998, as
shown on the print out of the Lands Register, exhibited as ‘MCI15', at
entry number 2. The 1% respondent then sold the property to the 2o
respofident on 11% December, 2001, who was issued with a certificate of

title.

It ig averred Lhal (he 20 respondent also sold the property to the 3o
respondent who egqually acquired a certificate of title to the said land, as
shown on the entrics 3, 4 and 7 of the Lands Register, exhibited as

MC1E. The I8t peuuoner further avers that the 3¢ respondent
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swiTendered the certificate of title, and was offered a ninety nine (99) vear
lease [or Lthe property on 250 August, 2009, as evidenced from the letter
of offer exhibited as 'MCI18° The averment is that exhibit MC17’ shows
that the 3% respondent was issued with a certificate of ttle for ninety

nine {99] yvears on 18" March, 2011,

Then thercaller, the 37 respondent applied for consent to asgsign Lhe
property to the 4 respondent on 16 January, 2012, which was granted
on 26t January, 2012, This is cvidenced by exhibits MC18" and ‘MC19°,
and the -1 respondent bought the property;, and was issued with the

coerbficate of title exhibited as NWO20°

The 1= petilioner contends that they were not aware that the [
respondent had applied for the land, and had even acquired a certilicate
of title to the sazid land. He states that all cthey knew, and reasonably
believed, based on the informabion that they had received from the Chiel,
wag thar the 19 regpondent was given a small piece of vacant land, which

was lar from the land that the displaced community occupied and used.

He further contends that this beliel was cven confirmed by the Serenje
District Agniculture Officer, Mr George Chisebuka, in the presence of the
District Commissioner and the Permanent Secretary, as evidenced on
exhibit 'MOZ" 1o the affidavil. The 15 petitioner also contends that even
though the 1% respondenl kept his application for the disputed land
sacrer, he had actual notice that the displaced community was in actual
poessession of the land, belure he started applying for it, and during the

process of the said application.

Furlher, that even the 2ud (o 41 regpondents as subsequent purchasers

equally had notice of the displuced community’s cocupation and use of
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community even disclosed their interest to all those wha wisited the land

ard enguired from them,

The 1= petitioner further contends that their living condilions plummeted
when the 2r responcent and his workers foreefully evicted them rom
the disputed land. That since then, they have continued to straggle with
aad housing and shelter, chronic food and water insecurity, ill health,
lack of opticns for income, hvelihood, inability to send their children o

school and inakility to redeess.

That prior to the 27 respondent evicting them and destroying their
houses, most of the displaced community members lived in houses that
were made ol bricks, and were properly roofed with iron sheets, He
depoges that [rom the Gme of their forceful eviction, they have had to live
In tents and temporary siructures made of sticks, and they cannot make
proper walls, because there is no waler, and they are not permitted to

cut trees to use for building,

It is further deposed thar the temporary siructures leak during the rainy
seagon, and wind blows through them, making them dusty and cold
inside. That when it rains, they are forced to leave their houses and stay
under big trees. Exhibited as MC21 28" are photographs of then-

structures and tents that were taken inJanuary and July, 2017,

The averment is that the respondents acts and omissions have seriously
jenpardised their feod security, as before the displacement and forced
evichion, the petiticners had abundant fertile land thar enabled members
of the displaced community to practice shifting agriculture to grow food

sustainably, They would have three (3] meals in a day, and they planted
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a ot of [ruit trees such as mulberry, mango, guava, banana, oranges and

others, that they ate, and from which they earned income,

Further, the cisplaced community had unresiricted access to the forest
and e nearby river for hunting, foraging and fishing, However, Lhey
now squat i the Mussngasht Forest Reserve, and they are not permitied
o engage n agnicultural acuvities.: The 1= petidoner deposes that even if
they were permitien to engage in agricultural actvities, the soil is poor
comparcd Lo that on the disputed land. Beades, there 1s no water in the
Musangashi Forest Reserve that they would use to irrigate their crops

and gardens with,

It is also contended that lhe displaced community has lost forest
products, game and fish thal were part of their diet, and was a source ol
income, because they cannot be lound in the dry Musangashi Forest
Reserve, through which no river passes. The 1# petitioner states that the
nearby forest near the Musangashi Forest Reserve has been fenced off by
the commercia lanners, thereby blocking the displaced community’s
access for hunting and loraging,

Further, the commercial farmers have warned the displaced community
thal they will be arrested for cnminal trespass, should thev enter the
[enced areas: Thus, the displaced community has been farced to buy
{vod Lo cat, which is expensive, and they have no money, and they have

losl all thewr means of earning income. They therefore have to skip meals,

and often go lor dayvs without eating.
The 1< petitioner further avers that they have chronic water insscurity,
which has allected their lives, with a disproportionate negative impact an

the womern snd girls. He states that this is unlike before the evictons, as
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thevy had unrestricted access {0 water lor donking, [arming, lor their
households through our the year from the Mulembe and the Luombwa

rvers, wlhach could be accessed in less than hve (5] minutes.

Mow the women who have the responsibilily of drawing waler and
cooking for the family have to walk long distances, and b mmulliple limes
to fetch water, the nearest point heing about five (5] kilometres away, Il 1=
further averred that the 277 respondent attempted to dig a well for the
comrmunity, bul abandoned it without finding water, as can be seen from

the photographs exhibited as ‘MC29-30°,

The 19 petitinner states that clinics where Lthe sick can be taken, as well
as the markets, are all very far away [rom the Musangashi Forest
Reserve. Therelore, those who go there, are gone the whole day, and
there 1s nio one Lo draw water to use for cooking and drinking the whole
day, leaving the [amilies hungry and thirsty. The 1# petitioner deposes
that this has mpaceted negatively on the girl children, who have in some
cases been withdrawn from schools, so that they can assist their mothers

ta fetch water,

The lst petiticner atates thart this has also alfected their environment, as
they are now dirtier than befare, as they do not have water for bathing,
cleaning and even washing dishes. He avers that the sanilauonm for
womern and girls during menstraation is challenging without water, and
that in terms ol their health, they spent months sleeping in the open air

during the cold season, after their evictions.

As & resull, 1 number of children fell sick, with one child who was
suffering from tuberculosis (TB) dying after spending about four (4]

manths 0 the open air during the cold seasom. The 1% petitioner also
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deposes that they sullered emotional anpuish and griel alter being forced
o leave their Iand, and the burial grounds lor their parents, relatives and
ancestors. Further, they continue experiencing extreme stress  and
anxiety as they wail [or the government to tell them where to go, and

they cannot sleep as they think aboul the same.

That this has espemally impacted on the children who sull need to go to
school, and there 15 no school near the Musangashi Forest Reserve, He
gtates that some children have as a result, stopped schoal, while others
continue to endure long distances to access their education. Further, the
girl children have been withdrawn from school so that they can help their
mothers to draw water, and also 1o leok aflter the infant children,

whenever their mothers o 1o the ¢linic or the market.

It is deposcd that the displaced community publicly complained through
the Zambin Infovrmaton Services {ZANIS) about their problems resulling
froom the forced eviclions, and exhibit 'MC317 is a copy of the media
report that was issued on 150 Anpust, 2013, The 1= petitioner contends
that they are not opposad to developmentlal projeets, but thae their forced
eviclion is unbearable. Further, they have not been compensated for the
land and the developments that they made to it, as well as their fruits

and crops,

The 1# petitioner ends by deposing that he signed the letter at page 3 on
number 30, which iz e¢xhibited as ™MC32', which was written to the
President of Zambia on 13" June, 2016, among 128 other people lrom
Ntenga area in Chiel Muchinda’s area, seeking his intervention, However,
the letter was not delivered duc to logistical challenges, [Marther, that
some members of tne displaced community are very old widows who are

weal, and are unable o clear land, and build new structures. He states
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that the fear is thar they may not survive as a result of the conditions

that they have been subjected 1o.

The 4 gnd 5= respandents filed their answer and an affidavit in
opposition on Bl February, 2018, It is stated in the answer, that the 4t
respondent on Blb December, 2011 entered into a contract of sale with
the 3n respondent for the sale of Farm No Ff95397, Centlral Province,
with a hectarage of 2071 hectares. [tis further stated it was a term of the
sale that the 3+ respondent was selling the property as a beneficial

owner, and that it was [ree from any cncumbrances,

The answer furthsr states that that notwithstanding, a search was
conducted at the Lands and Deeds Registry, which showed that the 3
respondent had a state lease for ninety nine (99 vears lor the property.
subsequenidy, the conveyancing documents to complete the sale of the
properiy were executed, and rhe 47 regpondent oblained a certificate of

title for the property.

it 15 also the 4 gand 5 respondents answer that when they moved onto
the property, they lound lwelve (12) people on site, who included a
foreman, that had previously worked for the 3™ respondent. The said
persons on the property were the remnatls of the workers that had
worked for the former owner of the property, and were on the property as

caretakers, under the supervision of the foreman.

The 4% and 3 respondents’ positien is thal the locals who were on the
property signed an agreement with the director of the 3™ respondent,
that allowed them to stav on the property until the development waorks
commeneed, Therculteor, the 5% respondent held a meeting al which the

locals were reminded of the agreement that they had, which they duly
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acknowledped, 1L is also stated that the locals were mformed that the 40
resportdent had segquired ownership of the properly and was going to

develop it.

The averment 15 that the locals did nof raise any gbhjection to the
development, bul only expressed concern that they had planted some
crops, and they requested lor & period of six (6) months to enable them
complete the harvest of their crops. The 4= and 5% respondents granted
the said request, and rhar by the time the 4% respondent started clearing
the property, moest of the locals had already cleared their fields and their

temporal housging unils.

It is srated that [or those that had not completed their harvest, rthe 4=
responaent gave them utme fo do so, and even provided transport to
them, as they moved to their preferred destinations. The 4th and 5
respondents deny hawving forcefully evicted the locals or the petiboners
Irom the property or destroving their crops and houses. Therclore, the 45
and 5% respondenis deny having vielated any rights of the petitioners as

allepged,

With regard to the asserdon that Sections 33 and 34 of the Lands and

Deeds Registry Act contravene the spirit of Section 7 of the Lands Act

and Articie 16 of the Constutution, the answer by the 4t and 5%

respondents 15 as follows;

i SBections 33 and 31 of the Lands and Deeds Registry Act speak to
the clfect of the 1ssuance of a certificate of title of registered land.
Thal with similar effect, the administration of customary law is

provided for under Pars || of the Lands Act. Thus, in cach case, the
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without disadvantaging the other,

i,  Similarly, Secton 33 of the Lands and Deeds Registry Act cannot
be said to be inconsistent and conlrary to Section 7 of the Lands
Act, as Section 7{2} provides a rider to the effect that the rights and
privileges ol & person under customary are recognised at law, but
the same should not infringe any other law. Thus, the provisions

Are in conscnance.

In the affidavit in opposition, which is deposed o by the 5% respondernt,
the 4% and 5% respondentz state that they have nol al any bme
displaced any persons, and as such, there is no community thal can
cortecty be relerred Lo as a community that was evicted by them, The 4@
and 59 respondents sllege that the petitioners were on sundry occasions

emploved by the previous owners of the land in dispute as farm worlers,

Thus, all the allegations relatung to the claims of ownership to the
disputed larne, and the violation of the petitioners’ rights on the basis of
the alleged forceful eviction in the affidavit in supporl of the petition are

denied, stating that they do not relate to the 4 and 5% respondents.

As regards he asserton that the problems started around Jualy, 2012,
when the 4th qnd 53 respondents went to the disputed land, and the 55
respondent callec & mecling, and informed the petitioners rthat he did not

rant peaple on the land, but the petitioners said that it was their
ancestral land, and Lthal the 5% respondent threw away the village boales,
atating that they showed nolhing, the response is that the 4t respondent
bought the land from the 3¢ respondent ag reflected by the contract of

sale, which is exhibited ag ‘ALV1-6' to the affidavit.
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The 4 and 5 respondents reiterate that the 3¢ respondent sold the
land as beneficial npwner, and that it was free fram any encumbrances,
They further reilerale thal 4 scarch at the Ministry of Lands showed that
the 3% resporident held the land on a ninety mine (99 yvear lease, and the
Lands Register exhibited as ‘ALV7Y-12' shows this. The 4% and St
respandents also stare that a certificate of title was acquired for the land,

which is exhibited as ALYV 1317

The 5% responderit avers lhat when he moved onto the property. he
found anly twelve [12) peonle, who were previously employed by the 3
respondent, and who were caretakers ol the properly’ under the
supervision of the foreman of the 3¢ regpondent. The affidavil also
reilerates the answer o the petition thar a meetng was held with the

locals, who were rominded of the agreement that they had with the 3

reapondent.

Further, thal the locals did not abject to the development of the lanid,
antd that by the time the 4% respondent started clearing the land with a
view to developing €, most of the locals had cleared their crops from the
fields. That those who had not completed the clearing were given tume to
do so, and that the 48 respondent provided them lransport lo move tn
their preferred destmatons.

[t is deposed thal when the 4h respondent was clearing the land, they
were visited by government officials from Serenje District, as a result ol a
broadeast on Screnje radio station that houses were being pulled dowrn,
and they established thal the allegations were false. The officials then

proceeded to meet (e locals,
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The &2 respondent fled an answer to the petition on May, 2018, They
deny having violated the petitioner's rights as protected by the
Conastitution, stavng thal its actions were in accordance with the law and
pther regulations, (hal guide their duties as agents of the 7 respondent
in land administraton. The 6% respondent further states that the
eviction of the petitioners should not have taken them by surprise, as
they were merely sguatlers, as acknowledged in parsgraph 1 of the
petition.

Therelore, Lhey ccoupied the lund in dispute at the mercy of the 1% to the
3ed regpondents, end that their occupation of the land was based on an
agreement that their stay was temporal. It is also stated that when the
application to convert the land from customary nto statutory tenure was
made, the &b rezpondent conducted an mspection of lhe land in
guestion, in order to cziablish whether it was [ree from ocoupation by

mdigenous villagers,

The &% respondent in the aliidavit in opposition deposed to by David
Saxala, a Water ana Sandtation Coordinator of the &% respondent,
deposes tnat according ro thelr records, the 4th respondent obtained the
subject property legally, and followed the due process te acquire land in
Zambia. Further, caat Mr Yssel, the propnetor of the 1% respondent who
hirst owned the disputed land, was allowed to settle on the same land by

Chiel Muchinda =8 a commercial farmer, and allocated him the land in

CuUesLioT.

He stales Lthal later, Mr Yssel converted the land into state land, and it
was boughl by Lthe 4= respoendentl. Itis averred that the 6 respondent at
iy silung oo 240 January, 1998, under minute number

PWD/113/96/12 ol the Plans, Works, Developmenl and Social Services
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Commattee Meeting held m the Council Chamber, approved Mr Yssel's
application for tand, i extent of 1, 300 hectares, which was allocated to
him after inspection of the land was conducted, to ensre that it was free

of any mdigenous villagersa.

He also depases that the 1# respondent applied for extra land from the
remaining 17490 hectares of the 2040 hectarcs, of which 250 hectares
wag approved, as per Land Circular No 1 of 1985, The allegations withi
rogard to the violabion of the peritioner's rights are said to be within their
owil peculisr krewledge. The ©F respondent reiterates that the 1#
respondent acquired the disputed land free from indigenous village
settlers. As such, it did nol see 1L [l 10 issue a public notice or seek

permission from the villagers lo approve the 1% respondent’s application.

Moreover, Seniar Chief Muchinda recomnmended thal the 18 respondent
be assisted to acquire a certificate of title. The allegations that the
pelitdoners have been hving in Musangashi Forest Reserve withoul any
compensation alter their forceful eviction, is said to be within the

petitioners’ peculiar knowledge,

The & respondent admits the asserbon that Senior Chief Muchinda
aulhorizsed Mr Yssel to settle as & commercial [armer along the Luombwa
River near the Mulembo river, and that he was given 2000 hectares of
land, The &' respomdent further avers that it is in posscssion of a letter
[rom Sendor Chief Muchirnda asking the 6 respondent to render
assistance Lo the |1# respondent, as well as a sketch map endorsed by
Senior Chiel’ Muchinda showing the exact demarcations of the land,
separating the land that was allocated to the 1# respondent, and Lhat

occupied by the indigenous villagers.
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The &7 respondent aadmits having approved the 1= respondeni’s
apphcation Lo convert the land from customary inte statutory tenure;
and that it made & recommendadon to the Commissioner of Lands that
the 15 respondent be given the land, submitting seven ({7) copies of the
sketeh map for numbering, The rest of the avermcentls in the affidayvit in
support of the petiion are said to be within the petitioners' peculiar

knowledge.

The 7t respondent ffled an answer on 6 March, 2018, The allagations
relating to the viclation of the petitioners’ nights are denied, and it is
stated that the records at the 74 respondent show that Chief Muchinda
on 10 February, (997, recommended the allocaton of the land to the
1% respondent, and that the said Chief endorsed the site plan.
Thereafter, the & respondent recommended that the 12 respondent be
allocated the land on 17H Apnl, 1997, and indicated that there were no

village settlements on the {arm.

That based om that information, an initial title was granted in favour of
Lhe 1= respondent far arm No F /9597, Central Provinee, with a rvight of
pocupancy lor 2040 hectares, and the 1+ respondent obtained a
certificate of tille on 30W July, 1998, Later, the 1+ respondent assigned
the property o the 29 resoondent who was lssued with a certificate of

title on 110 Decemioer, 2001,

The answer further stales that the 297 respondent on 14 Oclober, 2004
assigned the property o the 30 respondent who surrendered the title
deed in 2007, The 30 respondent obtained a title deed for ninety nine
{99) years in 2071, when the land was surveyed, and therealter conveyed

the land to the 4 respendent on 28 February, 2012, It is further stated
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that the 4™ respondent mortgapged the property to First National Bani

Limited in 2012, and in 2013, it oblained a further charge,

Then, in 2017, the 4= respondent secured an agricullural charge with
Cargill Zambia, With regard to the assertions relating to Sectivns 33, 34
and 25 aof the Lands and Deeds Registrv Act having the effect of
diminishing customary land rights, and taking away securnty of tenure of
such nighls, and that Sections 33 and 35 of the said Lands and Deeds
Registry Act are inconsistent with Section 7 of the Lands Acl, these are

dered.

The 7% respondent states that the provisions in the Lands and Decds
Registry Act do not discriminate against persons in maral areas or those
eryjoying customary land rights, bul rather enable every individual to
register customary land and obtain certificates of title, Further, that
Hection 8 ol the Lands Act empowers every holder of cuslomary land to
convert it into stalutory tenure, and that under Section 8(2) any
conversion of customary land inte statutory tenure, shall only have ellect
alter the Chief approves, and the Local Authorty in the area it which the

land iz siluated, also approves,

Thus, in thig matler, Chief Muchinda approved the conversion of the
lanicl by the 1# respondent and he endorsed the site plan. Further, the @b
respondent, being the Serenje Ddstrict Council recommended the 1=
respondent to the Commissioner of Lands, indicating thart there were no
village scttlements on the farm. Thal based on that recommendation, the
1=t respondent was issued with a right of cccupancy for 2040 hectares,

and it procecded to obtain a title deed,



The afidavil in opposition that was filed on 16% March, 2018, which is
deposed to by Musamvu Wanki, a Senior Lands Officer at the Mimisory of
Lands; repeats whart is stated in the answer, He [urther stales that on
S04 August, 2004, Graham Kae through Sharpe and Howard Legal
Praciitioners, placed @ caveat on the property claiming his interest as
being an intending purchaser, He, however. withdrew the caveat in

Cretober, 2004,

The allegations relating to the forced eviclon and the violation of the

pelilioners’ rights are said to be within their peculiar knowledge.

i the affidavil in reply to the affidavits in opposition that were filed, the
petitioners deny that the entire 2040 hectares of land on F/9397, Central
Pravince, was free of village scltlement, They reiterate thar there were
houses and fields on the land, going back generations, as seen from the
site plan exhibited as ‘MO’ to the affidavit. That the site plan shows that
property F/O597, Ceniral Province, covers land on both sides of the

Mulembo river.

The petitioners further deposc that the aerial images and records from
the 1960%, 1980's, 1940 and 2000's show the existence of the villages,
agriculiural cultvation, and lots of small scale clearance activitics along
the Mulembo river, on what is now /095097, Central Province. The
averment iz that the first cdition of Topography Sheet Kumber 1329 B2
cdared 1464, which was prepared in 1981 by the British government’s
Ministry of Overseas Development, under the Common Africa Assistance
Flan, and which is based en air pholographs taken by the Fair Survey
Limited in 1965, Field Completion by Ministry of Lands and Mines,

Lusaka, marked as "MPPGEKCLM', clearly indicates the existence of



villages, and agricultural activities along the Mulembo river on what is

wrown as F/9597, Central Provinoe,

It 12 deposed that the above mentioned decumenl shows thalt Mwelwa
Fiweme and Mwamfuli wvillages are opposite each other along ithe
Mulembo niver, and are separated by the said river on what is now
property F/9597, Central Provinee, Further, it shows two unnamed
villages and some scattered agricullural acbvites along the Mulembe
river on what is now known as F/9597, Central Province. The avermerit
15 also that this activity is also shown on the later edition of the
Topography Bheel No [339 B2 dated 1985, as an updare of the
Topography Sheel of 1968, and is marked as ‘MIFPGERKCLMZ',

The petitioners further depose that the Geological map for the Ndabala
Area that was complied and drawn in Geological Survey Department of
Zambia by Director 2. Mulela in 2000, marked as MFPGEEKCLM3!
conirms that there have always been villages on what is now F/9597,
Central Province, That the willages of Maimba Chikponda, Wilson
Mwamfull, and Mwewa Fiweme arc indicated. It is stated thar Maimba

Chilcponda and Mwewa Fiweme were rélatives of the 2= petitioner.

The petitioners further refer to MFPGEKCLM4-10" as copivs of the
enrolment regster at Ntenga Primary School for the period 1992-1997,
which show thal the schicol had pupils from Mulembao, who were born in
the 1980% and enrolled at the school. They state that the children
indicated as Mambwe Mwape and Cecilia Mwape in the 1992 register are
the children of the 2l petitioner, Febby Kalungs, while Cynthia Mwape
and Sydney Mukosha indicated in the 2004 and 2007 registers are the

1=t petitioner’s children
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Otherg are Kunda, P. Smarl and Iness Chabala mdicated in lhe 2004
and 2007 registers, who are grandchildren of the 7% petitioner, Esmime
Sunkula Kunda. There is also Mambwe Chileshe indicated in the 2004
register, who i1s the daaghter of the 3o petitioner, Regina Kalunga. The
averment s that these cluldren Iived m the Mulcmbo river arca, with
their parents, on what is now known as F/9597, Central Province, I is
stated that Ntenga Primary Schocol was estahlished as a community

school m the 1980°s, and it became a government school in 1292,

It is deposed that MFPGEKCLM 11" which was captured from 1990-2002
shows Images of the villages, cullivalion, and lots ol small scale forest
clearanee activities along the Mulembo river on what 15 now F/O507,
Central Provines. The pertitioners deny that the respondents followed the
procedure for allocation andfor conversion of the land into stahatory
lenure. This 1z because the petitioners were neither consulted or
mlurmed by their Chief, the 15 to the &7 respondents or any government
representatives belore the land that they occupled and used to access
foreat resources, weas allocated to the 1# respondent. and corverted into

EU.’LtthCIl':_-.-' terare.

The petitioners further depose that the &0 reapondent admits that 1l did
not issue any public nolice or advertiscment before the land was offered
o the 1# respondent, and neither did il communicate the intended
allocation or seek the permission of any person who may have been
affected by such allocation, Thal as scen rom exhibits MC4" and ‘MO
lo the affidavit 1 support of the petition, the 8 respondent through the
PWD on 244 January, 1996, approved the 1=t regpondentl’s application,

for farming in the Luombwa area.



Further, on 284 Mareh, 1996, when the full Council meeting adopted the
1# respondent’s application, Senior Chiel Muchinda had not yvel allocated
the disputed land to the 1# respondent. They also contend that exhibit
MCE" to the aflidavit 1n support of the petition, which the Chiet wrote, is
very gpecilic-as Lo the location: of the land that the 1% respondent was to
seitle on as a commercial farmer, which is in the Luombwa river near the
Mulembo river. That contrary to the suthorisation letler by the Chiel, on
the site plan WMCT', the Mulemba river is in the middle of what is now

knewn as F/95397, Central Province,

Further, exhibit ‘MC9' o the affidavit in support shows that only 1300
hectares were approved lor the 19t respondent, after inspection was done,
and neither the Chief nor the 6% respondent can approve land in excess
of 250 hecrares. It ia averred that there is no inspection reporl lor the
entire 2040 hectares of what is known as F/9397, Central Provinee,
other Lthan the alleged inspection of 1, 300 hectares, There id also no

ingpecton report lor the additional 1740 hectares.

It is the petitioner's contenton that endorsement of the site plan by their
Chief, was not a substitute for conducting a physical inspection of the
land, and neither was the use of remote sensing o detect patterns on the
land, The pelitioniers reiterate that they were mercilessly evicted from the
disputed land by the 4t sand 50 respondents. That this is a notorious
fact, as it is confirmed by exhibit ‘MC2° to the affidavit in support of the

petition.

All the petitioners deny that they were cmployed as farm workers hy the
previous owners of F/49587, Central Provinee, and in this regard, they
slate that they had properly established villages, about 500 metres from

each other, in accordance with their customary way ol cstablishing
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houses. Reliance is placed on the documents ‘MFPGEKCLM12-67" being

the photographs showing the established villages in Febraary, 2018,

They depose that the technology-and satellite images from the 1990% up
te 2013, show that the land was occupled and used [or generations, until
the petitioners were displaced by the 4% and oY% respondents. Further,
that MFPGEKCLMG8-88' show that the petitioners engaged in farming,
while ‘MFPGEKCLMEQ-00' are photographs of the uncleared forest

between the village establishments.

it i3 contended that the site at which the st Lo the 39 respondents
established their operations and cleared the fields was near the
Luombwa river, and not the Mulembao river, where the petitioners’ houses
and ficlds were established. The petitioners admit that there was a
carclaker and & few workers on the site thar was left by the 1% to the 37
respondents at the time the 4™ respondent became the owner of the

lanid, that is now known as F/9597, Central Province,

However, they allege that none of those persons meluded the petitioners,
who had their own villages far away [rot the site left by the 19 fo the 3
respordents, I s further contended that none of the workers who were
ieft an the site by the 1% to the 3™ respondents were from Mulembo area,
aut they were from other areas, and merely went there Lo work. That
among them were Daniel Kutashane, System Mwape and Palnck, whe

were not from Mulemboe or nearby Nienga,

Therclore, none of the petitivners were registered as workers lor the 1= Lo
2 regpondents, and it s denied that they signed an agreement with the
direcror of the 39 respondent allowing them 1o stay on the land, now

known as F/9597 . Central Province. They state that they were unaware



of that agreement, as they were not parties to 1t. Further, at no time did
the 5% respondent remind them of the agreement, amnd  they

acknowledged the existence of the said agreement.

[t is the petitigners’ averment that the 5" respondent may have been
mistaken as to which lecals he met, who acknowledged the exxastence of
the agreement that they had with the 3 respondent. The petihoncrs
nowever admil having met the 3% respondent whoe infermed them that he
was the new owner of F/9397, Central Province, and that he had

demanded that they vacate the property.

They contend that the At and 5% respondents did not enguire about
their mghts or interest in the land before they purchased it, and only
approached them aller they had purchased the same, and told them to
vacale it IL s also the peliioners’ conlention that they objected Lo
vacaling the land or developing Lhal land, as they had cccupied it for
s

peneralions, and thevy did not give the $¢ and 3 respondents

oermission o develop the said land,

The petitioners further deny that 4t and 5= respondents allowed them to
slay on lhe land [or a period of six {0) weeks or any vther period, so that
they complete their harvest of the crops. They deny that they had cleared
their fields and temporary housing by the time the 45 respondent started
clearing the land, stating that their cassava was still in the fields at the

time the 5% respondent cleared the land, and destroved their properties.

They [urther deny thal the 5% respondent stopped clearing the land after
he reachied the Dirst house, but allege that he continued, and destroyed
the fields, crops and houses lor the 5% wo the 8 petoners, who were on

the other side of the Mulembo river. It is stated that 19 to the 4% and 9
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to 13 petivtoners who inilidlly remained, and lhoughl they were outside
the land that was claimed by the 498 and 3% respondents, were laler
forceiudly evicted without notice by the 5™ respondent’s worlkers, whao par
them on a tractor, and left lhem by the road side outside F/95497,

Central Provinee.,

They depose that had they complered rthe harvest, there would have been
no need for the government to provide them with food after the
Permanienl Scceretary and the Disorice Commissionsr wisited them in
Wiusangashi Forest Reserve, where they sought refuge. That the forced
eviction was reported by the Zambia Daily Maidl and ZANIS, as shown on
exhibits WCL" and "MC31° to the affidavit in support of the petition.

Al the trial, three of the petitichers testified, and they called no other
wilnesses, while the 15 three (3} respondents did not appear or call any
witnesses, The 4% and 5% respondents called two (2) withesses, and the

6t regpondent called one (1) witness, as did the 7™ and 8™ respondents.

PW1 was Febby Kalanga, the 2 petitioner. Her evidence was that she
was born in Mulemba and her parents died there. The 2= petitioner
further testified that she had bved in Mulemba until the white man went
there, adding thal mmigally sll was well with the first groap of white
people that went there, and the group thercafter. It was stated thar when

Vickas went there, they heard thal he plannced to chasc the people away.

The next thing they heard was that trees were being cut, and on going
there, they found a bulldozer that was bringing dewn the trees. The 20
petitioner stll in her testimaony stated that after teo (2] days, the houses

below were demolished, and Vickas sent his workers to tell Mambwe
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Kunda that what had happened was not the end. He had farther told his

workers 1o tell Mambwe Kunda that thev should remove their maize.

The 2« petitioner wld the court that they harvested the maize which
was not ver ready and 1t went bad. Then Vickas sent his workers wath &
tractor m May, who told them to remove thewn things, and on doing so,
they put them on & tracior. She testified that they were asked to choose

where they should be laken, and they opted fo go to the forest.

The evidence was futher that the goods on the tractor were damaged
arcd on being offloaded, they were placed under some trees. They started
sleeping on the ground, and later officers from the government went
there to see how (hey were lving, The 294 pelinoner stated thar the
governmenl workers ok lhemn tents, that they put up to sleep in, bur
lhe rain wdler would ester nside the saud tents, and drench their

beddings,

The 20 petitioner farther testified that they would shwver as & result of
the cold, and in November;, her grandchild died, as a resull of the cold,
Her husband also died on 18 January, duc to exposure 1o the cold, and
in Augusl, her first born child alse died due to the cold. On other help

at they had received, the 27 petitioner tesiified that they were given
two (2) bags of maize each. She also stated that she was sick, and she

thiought about her dead husband, child and grandeluld.

The 20¢ petibconer went on to highlight the challenges that they were
facmye; staling that they had no food, and water, and that the chldren
had stopped going o school, Further, thore was no hospital, and they
could not culrivate on the land as it belongs to other people, She stated

that at no point did they give their [and to any person, and she alao
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Lestified that Wilson Mwamluli was her grandfather, although she calied

Fuarn as her uncle.

Her testimony was thar Wilson Mwambuli used wo live in Mulembo where
she alse lived, and that Mambwe Mwape was her son who was born in
1986, Further i her testimony,; the 2nd petitioner stated that in 19490,
she was staying in Mulemnbo, and thal she was not consulted on any
nerson wishing to obtain the land, By way ol concluding her testimony,
the 2o petitioner told the court that she had not been compensated for
being dispossessed of the land, and that she had not been allowed to go

back to Mulembuo.

When cross examined by Counsel for the 40 and 5% respondents, the 2r¢
petitioner reilerated that she was born in Mulembo, even though she had
no documents to that effect, She stated that there was a headman for the
village who kept the wvillage register, and she agrecd that the village
register was not before the court, It was further the 2w petidoner’s
cwvidence that they were a given one (1) week to vacate the land, and that

they put their belongings on a tractor.

She explaned that the 4% gnd 5 respondents told them to choose where
they should be talken, and that most of the goods were damaged as thoy
were being transported. The 2% petitioner maintained that her husband,
child and grandchild died due to exposure to the cold, and that she was

told that they had malaria, at the chinic,

[ cross examimation. by Counsel for the &% respondent; it was the 25
petitioner’s evidence that when they were asked ta leave the land, they
had complained to the government in Serenje. She agreed thar she did

nat travel o the government offices, but that it was the men in the group



that did so. The 274 petitioner also stated that they were nol allowed 1o

cultivate in the forest by govemment oflicials.

The 2w peliboner agan reilerated that she did not give authoricy that
any person be given the land, and she agreed that the government has
power to give land. It was the 277 petitioner’s evidence thal they have g
Chief, but that they did not go there when they were told to vacate the
iand, a3 he had died. She also testified that the children had stopped
poing to school, as the school that is in Mulembo, 15 far away from the
forést where thev live. She was nat cross examined by Counsel [or the 7

and Bt respondents.

Esmme Muwape Kunda Sunkulu, the 7h petiboner, was PW2. Shie
lestified that she used to live with her husband Kunda Pind in a village
near the Mulembo stream. Her evidence was that her hushand aied in
the same village, and that when her husband married her; he had
worked for her parents for three (3] vears, and thereafter, he rook her to

Mulembo where they had hved.

It was her evidence that she bore cluldren, and laler she was blessed
with grandchildren, snd upon her husbeand's demise, she continued
living in the village, and no one chased her, The 7% petitioner added that
then some whilte people started going to the area, with ane called Pierre,
who went to the farm called luombwa. It was stated that Merre had
gatled for a meeting, but he only allowed seven (V) people to go in. That s
how Lhe 7t petitioner’s husbhand who was the headman ol the village
woenl i owith seven (7)) other people, who mcluded Chisenga Musorids,

Mambwe Bam and Morrison Chipabwamnmba,



Continuing with her testimony, the 749 petitioner testified that when her
husband and the others had returned, they had informed them Lhal
Pierre had hought the land, and he had asked them if they were ready to
leave the send land, However, they had told him that they were not ready
to leave as their parents had lived and died there. They had signed that
they would live in peace, and irom there they lived well unti] he left, She
stated that another white man went to the land and lhey had no

prohlems with him, and he also ledt,

The 74 petitioner Lold the court thal theéreafter Billis went to live an the
[arm and he never talked to them. Then one day, the 7th petitioner heard
a noise that sounded like an aeroplane, and when she went outside to
see wilhh her children, they found two bulldezers cuthing down the trecs.
She alsa astated that the grave for her late husband was dug up, as well

as those for her children.

The next day, the worlkers continued clearing the land, and when they
regehed the ared arournd the 7 petitioner’s house, she had asked Billia
workers il they did not know that she lived there, but they had
responded stating that he had bought the Mulembo area. Billis told his
workers to remave the things from the 7 petitioner’s house, and the T
petitioner and her children cried i protesl, stating that they had

nowhere W go.

However, the clearing continued, and whien they reached 7% petitionsr's
house, she grabbed her beddings, some mealie meal and a few other
items, They saw their friends, Febby Kahunga, Molosoni Chipabwamba
alse standing by as their houses were brought down and items
destiroyed. Her evidence was that they went to Musangashi forest, anc

there they had challenges hnding water as it was far away, She festified
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that she approached Billis workers dnd asked lhem le dig them & well,

and they started deoing so, but later abandoned the waorlks,

When the 7'h petittioner and her children returned to Mulembo with a
view Lo gelling lood, they found that all the cassava, maize, and sweet
potalees had been removed. Thal i3 how the 7 pelilioner’s gon Smarl
Kunda, their neighhour Giliat Mumba and Chisenga Mumba went to the
Boma to report what had happened, but they were asked to call their
parcnls. The 7 petidoner explained that she went to the Council, and
they wers directed 1o go and see the Disinict Commissioner and they were

given a letter,

Thereafter, the District Commissinner went to the forest and took them
tents o sleep i, and he later took them maize twice, From there, the 7
petinonier saw that the people who lived near Mulembo had also been
chased, and they were taken further than where the 7t petitioner and

slhers were,

She identified the picture at page 8l of the pettioner’s bundle of
pleadings as the well that Billis workers had failed to dig, Like the 2#d
petitioner, the 7 peritioner told the court thar they are suffering in
Musangashi Forest Reserve, and that there are ne schoals and clinics

there.

The Tt petitioner when cross examined by Counsel for the 4 and 5%
respondents testified that she was horn in Malupenga and Mulembao, but
that the two villages are in the same area. She agreed that she moved
Mulembo because she got married, and that her hushand was bom in

Mulembo village. The 7% petitioner also testified that it is part ol Lhe



tradition to have willage registers, but that the village register does nort

contain the names of all the people 1n the village,

Her evidence was Lhe village register symboliscs that the person is living
inn their village, and that they paid a lee o be maintained m the village
register. The 7TU respondent agreed that the Chief allowed the 1
respondent to settle in the village, and that the 1% respondent discussed
with them. She told the court that the 3'h respondent did nol discuss
with them, although she recalled thal m 2012, the 3% regpondent had

called a meeting, at which he had asked for the village register,

When referred to paragraph 36 of the affidavit in support of the petition
at page 185 of the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings, the 7 respondent
could net say if the meeting tonk place; stating thar she did not enter the
vard, and she did not attend the meeting. She went on to state that,
ltherelore, she could not say 1if a period of nine [9) months elapsed from
ithe ume the mectng wias held, o when they were chased, The 7ib
petitioner agreed that the St respondent’s workers sank the well, and
that a tractor ferried the villagers, although she did not know who owned

the tractor.

When cruss examuned by, Counsel for the 6% respondent. the 7
petitioner told the cowrt that she moved w Mulembo aller she got
married, That according Lo Lala tradition, & muan moves Lo his wife's
village upon marriage, and that her husband was supposcd Lo move o
her willage when he married her. 8he went on to explain that the
tradibion 15 that after staving at his wife's willage, a man could ask her
parents if he could move her to his village, and if they agreed, then the
marned. couple could move to the man’s village, That in this case, her

parents allowed her to go o her husband’s village.
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The Tth petitioner agreed that if one wanted to settle in a village that was
not theirs, they had to obtam consent from the Chief. She stated that the
Clhaet allowed her to settle in the village as he entered her m the village
register. St in cross examination, the 74 petitioner testified that she
Fad no evidence to prove that her late husband was born in Mulembo
village. Bhe further told the court that she had no evidence to show that

she went to the Council 1n Berenje where a meeting was held.

slhie however maintained that they were given a letter at the Council to
take 1o e Distnict Comunissioner, amd that the sad letter remained with
the District Commissioner, It was also the 75 petitioner’s evidencs in
cross examination that she did not know the size of the land thar the 14
respondent was given after the Chief allowed him to stay in the area. She
however agreed that he was given land around the Luombwa river, and
thal the Mulembo river is i the area, subject of dispute. That according

lo paragraph 14 ol the pefivoner's pleadings, the land was vacant.

Inn cross examination by Counsel lor the 7 and 84 respondents, the 70
petitioner atated that Luombwa and Mulembo villages are separated by a
oush, although she did not know the distance between them. She tald

the court thal bolh villages fall under Chief Muchinda.

The last wilness [or the pelhibioners was the 19 petiioncer. He testhed
that he uged to live i1 Mulembo area at his parent's farm, having been
barn in 1464, The 1 petitioner also stated that in 1997, he was called by
the neighbours to go and see the visitors who had gone there. When he
went there, the 1% petitioner and his friend Sam Mambwe found some

sgyvernment officials who had some equipment to measure land.
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They were informed that the government officials were measuring Pieter
Yssel's land. Then after & week, the 1= peutioner was informed by the
children that somenne was buiiding near the Luombwa river, and when
he went there, he found people, whao said that a white man had bought
the land. 1L was his evidence that after four (4] months in 1998, hmaises

had been built, and the while man moved Lhere.

Further, cows and shesep were taken there which started grazing on the
L=t peutioner’s crops, and the digeing extended to the 1= petitioner’s
neighbours, He wld the court that he was Secretary to the headman ar
the time, and the headrnan asked him to write a letter to the Chief,
asking the Chiel o po and address them over what was happening. The
15t petitioner stated thal Headman Kunda took the letter to the Chied,
and on his return the next day, he was with the Chicf's retainer with a

letieran reply for Mr Yssel,

It was explained that they lnoked for a representative who spoke English
at the nearby Nienge School, and found the 1% petitioner's cousin,
Viulkalka James, who thev asked to be their representative as they met Mr
Yasel. The 1% petitioner stated that only seven (7) prople were allowed
intn Mr Yssel’s premises, being the 1= petitioner, the Chicl™s advisor,

James Mulkaka, Kunda Phin and Sam Mambare.

He wenl on to testify that after they entered, a police land rover went
there, and a police oflicer who had a gun and tear gas remained outside
manning the premises, while the officer in charge joined the meeting, The
| * petitioner stated that the teacher read out the letter which said that
the Chief had told Mr Yssel not o go where his people were, and thar Mr

Yascl was only given a small place near the Luombwa river. Further, thar



the land had not been seld to Yssel, but was given in exchiange lur an

engme tor a land rover,

The 1= petitioner testilicd that after the letter was read, Mr Yssel had
asked for forgiveness, stating that his workers would take the animals to
where the villagers were, and that he had notl said that the villagers were
stealing his animals, but rather, that they shmild help him keep them. In
the meantme, Lthe officer who was manning the premises began
disturbing the people who were vuiside and he said that he would spray
tear gas, and noise started outside, The 1% petitioner told the court that
the meeting was closed with the officer in charge asking thal they should

live in peace with Mr Y=ssel, whose land was far from theirs.

Hiz Lesbimony was that they lived in peace, and then in 2001, Mr Yasel
called them staling that he wanted them to count all the plants and
houges that they had in the village, and he would give them money to
crelocate. However, they refused the offer, and from that fime they
stopped seeing Mr Ysasel, and only his workers remained. Then in 2002, o
guard at the farm called Patrick, teld them that Mr Yssel had sold the
land, He stated that a man called .John Kaite, the 20 respondent herein,

wenl W the Tarm i 2002, and he called a meeting,

The 1% petitioner’s evidence was that the 27 respondent told them that
he had bought the farm, and he asked to be shown the villages. That is
how rhe 15 petitioner and Sam Mambwe went with the 259 respondent
and showed him the villages starting with Kunda Musongo, Patson
Kunda, Giliat Mumba and Kunda Pimn which were nearest to Mulembe,
He told the court that they passed through the waler and the 207
respondent had to talke off lis shoes to cross the river as they headed to

Sam Mambwe's villuge,



From there, they went to Rodzer Kunda’'s village, Charles Kalunga the
let pelitoners village, Chasengs Kundas, and Palrick Mukosha's village.
He stated that ar that point, the 2@ regpondent told them that he was
tired and they went hack fo hia farm. There, the 2% respondent had said
that the four (4] villages that were near his farm should move to where
the 1= petiioner was, However, they refused, stating that they had been
there for many vears, and the 2¢¢ respondent said that he would meet

them later, bt they never saw him again, and he left.

Sull i his testimony, the 19 petitioner testified thar i 2004, Pamicl told
them that the 27 respondent had seld the farm; and the 3 respondent
moved onto the farm. The 3% respondent did not call them and his
workers conunued working, and m 2010, the 3 vespondenl sold the
farm, to the 4 respondent whose owner is the 59 respondent. He
expiained that the 5 respondent called & meeting, where he had
informed them that he had bought the farm, and he wanted to cultivate
more than the previous owners. He stated that they had explained to the
ot respondent that lhe farm that he had bought ended near the

Lugmbwa river and not in Mulembo village.

It was stated thar the St respondenl had asked for the village register
and when he was availed the same, and he was told thar they bought
them at K25.00 each, he threw the hooks stating that he was losing
money with the povernment, and he wantaed to leave. Thereafter, the 5
respondent started working witch a bulldozer and when he reached near

the T4 petitioner’s homeslead, her son Smarl Kunda had rdised concern.

Hlowever, they had assured Smarl Kunda thal everything would be okay
ag they are Zambuans, and the Slate would protect them. To their

surprise, however, the 1# petitioner heard thal the 74 pettoner’s home



had becen destroved by the bulldozers and they were crying. The I#
petitioner went and verified that the 79 petitioner's home had been

demolished by the bulldozer,

The next day, the 1« petitioner called the District Commissioner, Charles
Mwelwa, and cxplained what had happened. The Dhstnel Commissionct
that afterncon arcound 15:00 hours called the 1=t petitioner and told him
o cross the Mulembo river, as he had gone there. llowever, the sun set
and there wers treea all over. and the District Commissioner was unable
to reach the 7' petitioner’s home. The District Commissioner however
said that e had seen, and he would know where to talke the issue, and

he asked them nol o do anything so thal they do ool destroy the matter,

It was also the 1# petitioner’s testimony, that the next day, workers from
the District Commissioner’s ollice passed through Mulembo village
stating that the white man had said that those who were across the
stream should leave, as he would go there the next day with a tractor
that would canry their things, and take them to where their niends were,

and thal he would lake & bulldozer.

That is how the next day, the tractor was taken there, and the petitioners
packed their things, and their houases were destroyed, He further testified
that as the trailer was small, they were unable to carry the blocks and
the crops;, and they were faken to where the 7™ petitioner was in
Musangashi Forest Heserve. They lost their gnats and chickens and some

houschold goods,

The 1% pelitioner wenl on to testify that he made 4 hut out of trees, and
after three (3) weelcs, Sam Mambwe who had a phone teld them that the

District Commissioner was going there, and he went with there with the
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Permanent BSecretary from Kabwe, and the District Agriculiural
Coordinator George Chisebulka, and two [2) other persons, It was stated
lhat st thal meeting, the 1& petitioner was chosen as the spokesperson
for the group, and he had explained the difficullies thal they were going
thromgh, the toughest being water, which was lound aboul live (5]

kilometres away.

He stated that they walked there, and the District Commissioner had
observed that the water was coloured, and they led him to Helena Chaola
te see where thev sleeping. The District Commissioner told them that he
had never seen such a thing, and he promised that tents and maise,
would be given to them by the Permanent Secretary; as they had no food.
The I~ peritioner testified that after a week, sixty five {63] tents were

Laken there, and a week later, they were given maize.

From there, they started wailting for the government to find a solution
and they would wale up very early in the morning te go and fetch water.
Az time went by, thev sat down to chart the way forward, and thoy
decided to go and see the Chief. There, they were given documents to
show that the 5™ respondent had hought the land, and they were told
that they should know, The 1% petitioner stated that among the
documments they were shown was a map showing Mwamfull willage, and

that Mwamiialil is his mother's name,

He 1dentified page 1585 of the petitioner's bundle of pleadings as the map
showing the villages. dared 1464, and the one at page 159, dated 1983.
With reference to page 154, the 1% petitioner testilied that the lields were
below the Ntenge river hetween the latitudes 14 and 16, Sull on the
maps, Lhe 1#= pebtoner testified that the map at page 160 of the

petitioners’ bundle of pleadings shows Mwamfuli village. He told the
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eolrt that-at page 1 of the Nolce to Produce was the map for 2012, with

the date stamp for Senior Chiel Muchinda,

The 1st petitioner further testified thart at on that decument 18 Farm No
26, which 15 owned by the 57 respondent in the top right corner in the
Lucmbwa area, and il did not reach them, He also stated that on page
af the Notice to Produce was another map dated 2012, and it also had

his grandfacther’s farm, Mwamhali village which was nexl 1o Farm 26.

He explained that on the last map, the farm mambers had entered their
farm al Wilson Mwamfuli, Tn conclusion, the 1% petitioner stated that he
had claldren in school, namely Sydney Chipabwamba, Cynthia Mwape,
David Mwape and Lydia Mwape, and that he had been keeping them
smce his first wife died. e referred (o the school register al page 165 of

the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings as showing Cynthia Mwape at No 158,

The 1% petitioner asked to be given back his grandlalher’s farm, and the
three houses that he built. He also asked te be piven back the fields and

to be shown the gravevard, and to be compensated for the suffering.

The 1# petitioner when cross examined by Counsel for the 4th and St
responidents stated that hie was born in Milumbe near the Mulemba river.
When referred to his national registration card ac page 33 of the
peiitioner’s bundle of pleadings, he stated thal the Chief that is indicated
vl that natonal registration card is Muchinda, while the village is
Kabundi. He agreed that apart from himself, there are twelve (12) other

petitioners, and that they were removed from four (4) ather villages,

He stated that whilst they paid K10.00 for a village book, there were no
receipts before the court lo prove so. The 1+ peritioner agreed that he

had no documents to show the size of the land that his grandfather was
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giverl, The 1# petitioner [urther lold the court that the letter that they
wrote to the Chiel over Mr Yssel remained with the Chiel, sand Lthat he
also did not have the letter that the Chief wrote to Mr Yasel. lle agteed
that paragraph 36 of the petition shows that they met the 5" respondent
in Seplember, 2012, and thal paragraph 38 of the said petibon shows
that the 5% respondent went to the land with bulldozers onn 40 June,

2013,

still tn cross  examination, the 15 petitioner agreed that the =
respondent went with the bulldezers eight (8] months after he had met
them, and that 4 day belore he went there with the bull dozers, he had
sent his workers to inform them. He also agreed thal they used the St
respondent’s tractor o move, When relerred to the meap al pasge 159 of
the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings, he agreed that the village Wilson
Mwamiul was not indicated, but that the fields were, which included

those for the 20 to the 137 petitioners.

He could nol answer if he is the administrator for Wilson Mwamfuli's
estate. The 1% petitioner agreed that at page 1 of the notice to produce is

Bhie Vein Farm, for the 3 resnondent.

In cross examination by Counsel for the &6t respondent, it was the 1=
petitioner’s evidence when referred to paragraph 5 of the affidavit in
support of the petiton at page 12 of the petitioner's bundle of pleadings,
thiat Milumbe, Mulembo and Wilson are the same. He stated that Mr
Yasel sold the land to another man, but they did not tallk to the new
owner as they did not know him. They did however discuss the boundary

af the land with Mr ¥ssel, He told the court that the extent of Wilson

Mwamfuli's land was shown on the map at page 1| of the Notice to
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Produce, but when referred ta the said map, he agreed that the extent of

the land 15 ot indicated.

Farther 1 cress examibation, the 14 petitioner stated that the 1
respondent nhtained a cerfificate of ritle mdicating the extent of the land
as 1, 300 hectares, which the Chief agreed to, and rhat this was the land
that was zold to the 3= respondent, and the 4% respondent. It was his
evidence thal the Chiel evenl wrole Lo Mr Yesel lelling him thal be should
not reach Mulembao., He told the court that the said letter was ar page 44

of the petitioner's bundle of pleadings.

When referred to the said letfer, the 1% petitioner agreed that it stares
that Mr Yssel was given 2000 hectares of land, and not 1, 300 hectares
as he had staled, He was not cross examined by Counsel for the 7 and

B regpondents, and that marked the close of the pelitioniers® case,

EW1l was Leonard RKanunks, who was called by Llhe 4% gnd S5th
respondents, His festimony was that he had staved ar the 4
respondents farm far eight (8) years. RW1 further restified he knew that
the 15 petitioner came from Kabundi to near the Ntenge river, and he
married in BW1's village and his wife died. From there, the 1% petitioner

went to marry in Mulembo village, where his in law Samson lived.

RW1 further in his evidence stated thal Wilson Mwamluli village had
been there for a long time, and that it was there when he was born in
197 1. This witness also restified that there are village bocks, which state
who owns what village, and thar the people who were within the 4%
defendant’s farm were given ftime to hervest their ¢rops, and some even
requested for transport after deoing so, after the 5% respondent had

started clearing the land,
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When cross exarmined by Counsel for the Gt respondent, RW1 testified
that he was from Kanunka village, which is apart from the 1= pelitioner’s
village. 1t was turther BRW1's evidenee that when the 1# petiticner's wife
died, he went to marrvy in Mulemba willage, which 1s inside the 40

respondent’s [arm.

RW1 in cross examinatiorn by Ceunsel [or the 7 and 8- respondents
atated that the 4t regpondent’s farm starts from Luombwa and goes up
to the Mulembo river, He twold the court that Mulembe has no people
livinig there, zlthough a few peaple used to live there. His evidence was
further that the 46 respondent owned part of Mulembo village, and that
he had heard of Mwamfuli village Irom his parents, but that it does not

show, as it had changed to Mulembo village.

BW1 did not know if Mwamfuli village is nesr Mulembo village, but he
maintained thar the 1% petitioner went to his grandfather Belt Kalunga's
village Kanonko, where he married his first wife in 19849, He also told the
court that the 1= pelitoner left in a year that he did not know as he was
in Mkushi. He insisted thal the 1=t petiboner came from Kabundi, when

he went to marry in Belt Kalunga's village.

When cross examined by Counsel for the petitioners, RW1 agreed that he
signed & petition that Jackman got his land in Ntenge, where he came
from, and that he had told the court that he came fram Kanunka village.
He further agreed that Jackman and Billis are commercial farmers. He
also agreed that he had never lived in Mulembe, but that he had seen the
15t petitioner's mother in Kabundi, and not in Mulembo:. BW1's evidence
was that the 1% petitioher wenl to Mulembo to marry a second wife a
leng time agn, and that it was before RW1 went to the 40 respondent’s

ferm.
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He clartficd that he was i Mkushi at the time. Further in ocross
examinalion, RW1 agreed that when thev were clearing the farm, they
tound people there, as well as hnuases and rrees. He recalled having licard
of Febby Kalunga. Mable Mwape, Giliat Mumba, Pepson Kunda and
Kunda Musonda, but not Esmme and Palrick Chisenga. When cross
examnined [urlther, EW1 (estilied thal Loveness Kunda and Rodgers

Kunda were there, and he got to know them when he joined the 4th

respondent,

He further stated that he knew them belore he wenl w the 4
respondent’s fmrm, and even belore he went o Mkushi in 1997, KW also
in cross cxamination lestled (hat he had filed a complaint against
Jackman because of the way they were staying after their land was

grabibed.

RW2, George Biljoen also testified on behalf of the 4% and 5%
respandents. It was his testimany that he had been working lor the =h
defendant since 2012, He explained that the 4b respondent engaged a
lawver to investigate the dtle to the land, as they were investing a huge
sum  of moncy., Upon finding that evervthing wag clear, the 5%
respondent bought the land covering 2070 hectares from the 37

respondent.

He identifiedd page 4 of the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings as the
contract of =sale between the 37 and 4% respondents;, dated 16+
December, 2011. He went en to further idently pages 110-113 of the
petitioner's bundle of pleadings as the Lands Register, which shows that
the 1st respondent owned 2040 hectares of land, and thal al page 12

was un assignmenl W the 3 respondent for 2040 hectares of land on a
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ninety nine (99) vear lease, and they were given a certificate of title for

2071.35 hectares,

It was RW2's testimony that there were people on the famm when Lhey
bought 1t; and a mecling was called with the previows owner, Lhe 3+
respondent’s loreman., That at that meeting, at which RW2 was present,
the people were told that the previous owners had allowed them o stay
o the farm, until it was developed, and thart is how the people had asked
RW2 if they could be allowed to stay up to the time thar they harvested

their crops, and they were allowed o do so.

He [arther lestified that thev cleared what they could, leaving the
people’s crops, and when the people had completed their harvest, they
asked to be assisted with transport, and RW2 allocated a driver with a
tractor and trailer to help them maove, That from there, there were no
permanent structures, but just huts, and they started planting. He
demied that any crops were destroyed, stating that the people were given

arnple tme to oarvest their crops,

Wilh reference to the certificate of title at page 116 of the petilioner's
mandle of pleadings, KEW2 testified that Farm No F/9597. Cenrtral
Province had never shifted at any point; and that the beacons are as on

the map.

In cross cxamination by Counsel for the 8% respondent, RW2 wesulied
that when the 4= respondent bought the land [rom the 3= respondenl,
thie 3% respondent had cleared 300 hectares of the land, and they started
clearing more of the land., He told the court that they found about
eighteen (18} people there, who to his khowledge had been on the farm,

and they had agreed to move once the farm was developed. He added



that they even emploved one (1) of those people, who worked for a while

before lie left,

RWZ further in cross examination, testfied that the local people
cultivated on about 3 hectares of the land, and that there were aboul
seven [7) to cight (87 mud structures, It was stated that there is & dambo
river in the northern direction, which tums left into the farm as a
boundary, RW2 told the court that no one lives on the dambo, Tac
further away, and that the only people in the area, were those that they

asked Lo move, and Lthey each signed a document.

He slated that the people agreed to move as they would not have signed
the documenl, and he deiaed thal tie people were moved by loree. RW?2
clarified that they agreed to move alter the foreman met them, and that

1e did not see any animals that the people kept.

HW2 was not cross examined by Cotrnsel for the 7t and 81 respondents,
but in cross examinaton by Counsel for the petittoners, he agreed that
whert the 4% and 2% respondents moved onle the [arm, there were people
there. That whilsl his evidence was Lthat the people signed & docamment,
thar document was not before court. He maintained that the deocument
exists, although he was not sure in whose possession it was, as it was

previously in the 3™ respondent’s foreman's possession.

He stated that the 49 respondenl engaged lawyers to conduct a search
on the land, and he expressed ignorance on the assertion that the land
was wnitially customary land, His beliel was that the land was commercial
from the 1950%. RW2 agreed that at page 44 of the petibtioner’s bundle of
pleadings was a letter from the Chiel dated 104 February, 1997, RW2

further agreed rhat whart he had called the dambo is the Mulembe river,
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arid that Mr Yssel was allocasted land in the Luombwa river, near the

Mulembo river

He also agreed that the Mulembao miver 13 now part of the land that they
clamm ownership of, RW2 told the court that the foreman was Humphroy,
but that he was not surc whére he was: He lurther stated that he was
nol gl the mecting; but was at the farm working, when the foreman met
the people, It was also his testimony in ¢ross examination that he kept
the documents at the farm, and that he had photocopied them, but they

had moved three (3) tmes, 50 he had been unable o And the document,

EW3 Musamwvu Wanlka, 15 a Senilor Lands Ofheer at Lthe Ministey of Lands,
and he was called by the 7% and 8 respondents. lle testified thar Farm
Mo [Ffuau?, Central Province is located in the Luombwa farming Bleclk in
Serenje District. [t was further his evidence thar the farm was numbered

after it was converted fram customary tenure in Chief Muchinda's area.

This witness took the court through the conversion preocess, tesafving
that the Orsl step in the conversion process, is (hat the person applying
lo convert lhe land approaches the Chiel, who accepls lhe applicalion,
aric writes a lefter to the Council, The Council on receiving the letter
sends its officers to go and inspect the land, to ascertain that there are
no settlers on the land, who will be displaced as a result of the

Commissioner ol Lands approving the conversion.

EWJ3 leslilied Lhal the letter at page 44 of the petitioner’s bundle of
pleadings wayg the letter that the Chiel wrote. He also referred to 37 of the
said bundle of pleadings, testifying that it was the Lands Regmster, with
the first entry dated as 30t July, 1998, showing thal the President of

Zambia was the lessor, and the 1#t respondent as lessee, of 2040
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hectares lor Farm F/9597, Central Provinece, that the Chiel had

atthorised.

EW3 further in his testmony stated thal the 1= respondent was initially
pivenn 250 hectares as the mlernal procedurs within the office of the
Comrussicner of Lands, 18 that the Commissioner of Lands can only
approve 250 hectares of land for conversion, That above 250 hectares,
the Minister approves the difference. He relerred to page 55 of the
petifioner’s bundle of pleadings stating that it was a letter dated 289
May, 1998 approving 1790 hectlares of the land, as the difference from

thie 2040 hectares,

W3 also testified that page 39 of the pettioners’ bundie of pleadings on
the third entry shows that 2, (071.35 hectares of the land was registered.
He explained thart when the person was mnitially given the land, i owas
Gased on a sketch plan, meaning thal the property was nol surveyved,
and the extenl of the land was therclore an approximation. [lowever,
when the land was surveved mnn 2007, 1t actually measured 2, 071.35

hiectares,

He stated that the Commissioner of Lands followed the procedure for
converting the land, based cn the authority of the letter rom the Chiet,
as well as the recommmendation by the Sercnye District Council, who

inspected the land 1o ensure that there were no setilers on the land,

RW3 when cross examined by Counsel lor the 4th gnd 5t respondents
agreed that from the documents at pages 57-60 of the petitioners’ hindle
of documents, the ownership of the land had changed between ar |east
three [3] people. He stated that when a property 1s surveyed, the

hectarage will change, and therefore the size of land thart it is neot
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surveyed, 18 jusl an approxamabon. He added that the size of the land is

anly confirmed once the Surveyor General approves the survey disgram.

In eross examination by Counsel for the &4 regpondent, RW3 testilied
Lhat he was not aware of any other procedure that was used to allocate
farms in the ares, olher than by conversion. He was not sure whether the
Luombwa was designated as a farm block, although it 12 land under
customary tenure, He hewever stated that he was aware of Nansangs
[arm block, stating that he was aware of it, as he was in charpe of

Central Provinee for live (3) vears.

When cross examined lurther, RW3 lestified that there was no need for
the Chief to authorise as the land was designated as g farm block, and
that he was aware that people went to the Chief even though the arca
was designated as a farm block. He told the court thal he was not awarc
that Chief Muchinda hac signed off Luombwa as a farm block, but he
slated that the consent of the Chief had to he obtained before an area
was designated as a farm bloclk, and that there was need for proof to thar

effect,

Further in creoss examination, RW3 testilied thal where the Chief
consents to conversion, the rights of the settlers with regard to the use ol
the land will change, as 1t will become State land, and it will belong o
anothier person. He told the court that he was hot aware that where the
Chiel congents, there will be no setilers, or that there will be alternative
land for the settlers. He added that where the Chief consents, the
Council has to go around the land, and confirm whether there are any
settlers, RW3 agreed that the Council just recommends to the
Commussioner of Lands, who has power to approve the allocarion of the

bard.,
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WwWhen cross examined by Counsel for the peliivners, it was staied that
the first step in converting land to stalulory tenure from customanry
tenure ig to gel the aulhority of the Chief. That thereafter. one goes (o the
Council with a sketch plan that the Chief has endorsed on, and fills in an
application. From there, the Council sets & date lor which inspection aof
the land is to be done, and an msprcuon report is produced on the

mapection being done,

After that, the Council sits to approve the application and Lhe skelch
plan, and once approved, the property goes for numbering. When
referred to pages 35-39 of the petitioners' bundle of pleadings, RWS3
stated thar page 35 shows that the applicationn was made on 24nd
January, 19496, Then at page 40, the PWD sal on 2449 January, 1996,
and approved the application. He further atated that page 41 shows that
the land 1s in Luombwa, and that at page 42, the Council on 28 Mareh,

1996 adopled the minutes of the PWD,

He wenl on to further tesrify that page 44 was the letier from the Chiel
dated 10t February, 1997, He agreed that when the Council sat to
conasider the application, there was no letter lrom the Chief, as it is dated
107 February, 1997. Further, lhal when the Council sat in January,
1996, Llhere was no sketch plan from the Chief as well as the letler. He
agreed that to inspect land, one needs to have a sketch plan so thal ihey

can set the parameters of inspection.

RW3 atill in cross examination agreed that il was nol possible to inspect
2040 hectares of land within hours, unless there are roads everywhere.
He further agreed that page 51 of the petiboner’s bundles ol documents
states that the approval was for 1300 hectares, and lhat il was lree of

villagers, RW3 agreed that according to page 45 of the petitioner’s bundle
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of pleadings, the source of the data was the opographical maps being

132981 and 1330A1,

He alsa agreed that the [ast part of page 68 of the petittoner’s bundle ol
pleadings, which is the survey diagram allached to the certificate of title,
that was issued to the 37 respondent, states thar the reference was
132982, He told the cowrt that he could not comment on why the

numbers were different from that on the skeich plan.

RW.3 apreed that if the Council sat withoul the documents bemng
avallable, then procedure was not followed, He could not recall when the
Luombwa farm block was cstablished, although he had worked in
Cenlral Provinee, RW3 however testified thart the Ministry of Agricuitare
goes on the ground and obtains data, but that he had no competence in
that area, Still in cross examination, RW3 stared that the Ministry of
Lands has a department for maps, and that documents had to be

attached for approval of a farm black.

When referred Lo the map at page 2 of the Nelice Lo Produce, RW3 staled
that it indicates Luombwa larm block, and that it was done in August,
1997, e told the conwt thar he was not invelved in the setting up of the
farm block. KW3 agreed that the topographical map at page 158 of the
petitioner’s bundle of pleadings indicates wvillages, but he told the court
thal he had not testlied that once the Chiel consenls, then the villagers

lose their rights.

Hiy evidence was thal i there are people on the pground, Lhe
Commissioner ol Lands 1s not supposed lo approve the conversion., That
where it is discovered that there are people on the ground; the

Commissioner of Lands will request for resettlement, hefore the approval
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settlers become squatters. He also told the court that mere declaration of
a farm block converts it inte state land, and also where lthe Chcl

conscrts to the conversion.

RW3 agreced that he had no letler showing that the Screnge Distriol
Council approved the cohversion of 2040 hectares of land to the 1w
respondent. Whilst testifving that Serenje ldstrict Counci avarled an
mepecton report to the Commissioner of Lands, RW3 testified that he
did not have the said document before court, He testilicd with relerence
lo page 110 of the peliioners’ bundle ol pleadings, being a portion of the
Lands Register, tnat the [irst entry on that documenrt, gave a right of
occupancy, which is attached to certificates of title In areas under

customary tenure, which is a lease.

He comcluded his testimony by stating that at page 44 of the petitioners’
bundle of pleadings, the Chief allowed Mr Yssel, and not the 1#

respondenl o seltie on the land as a commercial farmer.

The last witness who was called by the 6% respondent was Solt Tembo,
e is a town planner with the Serenje District Council, In his testimony;
he told the court that he was responsible for developmental conirol
wilhin the districl and leownships. Further, that he handies land
sdrinisiration issues, including applicalions for conversion of land, as

well as offers advice on land issucs.

iz evidence was thal Farm F/9537, Ceniral Provinee is in the Nansunga
Farm block, which was established in the 1980%. He lurher told the
court that the Council is an agent of the Commissioner of Lands, and

that applications are handled by the Council, with a view o making



173

recommendations to the Commassioncr of Lands for allocation of the
land. Il was his evidence that the farm is in the Luombwa farm block
under Chief Muchinda, and that they received applications for larm
blecks which are under state land, as there 15 a lay oul plan, and the

Council forwards the applications to the Commissioner of Lands.

He further testilied that the applicant fills in an Annexure C apphcation
which is submitted 1o the Commissioner of Lands together with a
recommendation letter from the Council, a site plan and the minutes of
the Council meeting with the resolution. He idenfified page 35 of the
petitioner's bundle of pleadings as the Annexure C form, stating thart the
applicant fills in the frst part, and that the Council fills in the next part

after approval by the full Couneil meeting,

Continuing with his testumony, RW4 testified that the PWD meeting
handles all the applications for land, and on consideration, they forward
the application e the full Council meeting for approval, He staled hat
page 40 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings were the minutes of the
full Council meeting, and that it dealt with approval of an application for
land in a [wrm block, and nwol for conversion of land held uncer

customary tenre into statutory tenure,

e clarified that where the application is for conversion of land held
under customary tenure, the inttial point of contact is the Chief, where
they obtain the consent of the Chief, and site plans are prepared. The
applicant then fills in a form that has a part for the Chiel Lo siprn, and
that in part 1, the applicant fills in their details, and submits it to the
Council. The Council on checking the application will establish if the

Chiel has given consernl, and has endorsed the site plan,
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From there, the Council will establish if the land is a forest, township or
district, or ene of senaitive national interest, and they conduct inspection
of the land, and forward the application to the relevant committee, From
there, it goes to the full Council mecting, and the Couneil lills 1n parl 2
making recommendations. He also Lestified thal Annexare © is also Blled
iny, eurd the application is lorwarded to the Commissioner of Lands, whoe

numbers the parcel of land,

That where the land is state land, and it 15 not numbered, they send the
land for numbenng W the Commssioner of Lands, That lor larm blocks,
they are numbered by the Commissioner of Lands, and the Council
makes Lhe recommendation, based on the number of the farm, RW4
added that where lhere s a provisional onber, they make the

recommendation based on the provisional number.

Further in his testimony, EW4 told the court that according to the
documents, the application was for land in a farm block, and not for
Cconversion, as scerl dal page 40 ol the pelitioner’s bundle of pleadings. IL
was his evidence that thie applicant submitted a site plan with a mamber
at page 453, which is 26, the farms having had administration mambers,
He alsa testified that the site plan had the farms in the area, and that the
map was already 1 existence. Therefore, the Council when
recommending to the Ministry of Lands submicted an extract of the magp,

and according to the document, the extract came from the original map.

Still in his evidence, RW4 testified that as an agent of the Commissioner
of Lands, the &% respondent handles stawe land, which they
recommended ta the Commissioner of Lands, He further told the court
that when it comes to mappings and site plans, the application goes Lo

the Commissioner of Lands, and that the site plan 15 an estimate of the
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land, bur that the shape of the land is specific, Like, RW3, his evidence

was thar the size of the land is only known after the survey s done,

However, the shape of lhe land is maintained on the survey diagram,
Continuing with his testimony, RW4 told the court that a farm block can
be state land or under customary tenure, and that m order to develop a
farm klock, one needs to agree with the Chief, so that the fprm block s
created wiathin the Chicfdom. He stated thal the letler al page 44 ol the
petitioner’s bundle of pleadings was a letter from the Chief ta the Council

authorigsing the settlement of a commercial farmer,

It wasg stated that such documenis go the Council, as the Chief
earmarked the farm blocks, or there 15 already a farm block in the area.
RW4 stated that the document moves with a site plan, and that in this
case, the Chief recommended a person who was already in farm bleck.
He went oni Lo teslily thal where such an application is received by the
Council, it underpoes the processes already explained, and thar whers
the land is held solely nder customary temare, the applicant is referred
back to the Chief to fill in forms 1, 2 and 3, and cause an applicanion for

COTIVETSI0N.

Sull m his lestimony, RW4 Lold the courl that page 45 of the petitioners’
bundle ol pleadings was a site plan showing an approximation of the
land ag 2040 hectares, Fuarther, that page 51 reflects 1300 hectares, but
what was cardinal was consistency in the shape even after the cadasiral

survey was done.

By way of conclusion, RW4 stated that he was not aware thar there were

people on the farm, ontl they were sued, and that the &% respondent as
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L the Cornmissioner of Lands.

When croas examined by Counscl for the 4% and 5% respondents. he
stated that page 40 of the petitoner’s bundle of pleadings shows that the
application was for farm land and not for conversion, He added that he
did not come across forms 1.2, and 3. and rherefore it wag ot an
application for conversion. It was further his evidence, that conseguently,

the letter from the Chief had no basis,

Stll in cross examination, RW4 testified that the letter at page 55 of the
petitioners’ bundle of pleadings shows that the Commissioner of Lands
approved the allocation of the land. lle also testilied that a purchaser
looking at the Lands Register would not tell the procedure thart he had

explained,

Inn cross exammabon by Counsel for the 7™ and 8% respandents, RWd4
stated that site plans are prepared by lhe 6% respondent’s officers who
are specialised in mapping, if the land is situated in larm block, and in a
township, as the 6% respondent has a general plan. It was harther his
evidence lthal where the land 18 in a chiefdom, the applicant sources
anyone to do the sile plan, who may include officers from the 6w

respondent an a private basis,

He however agreed that whether an application relales o state land or
customary tenure, it has to be accompanied by a site plan. That for
conversion, lhe hirst form is 1,2 and 3, and the site plan signed by the
Chiel, and that it does not include Annexure C. When cross exarmned
further, RW4 stated that Annexure C is present in hoth statutory tenure,

and on conversion, but at different stages. He continued testfving,
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stating that for conversion, ingpection of Lhe land is conducted and the

findings pul in an inspection report.

He agreed that page 51 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings states thal
Lhe farm was free from any village settlement. RW4 also agreed that the
purpose of mspection is to verify the location of any land, and whether
there are scitlers, or any development or activity on it. His evidence was
also that the & regpondent inspects land which is a farm block on an
application being made, and they make recommendations in excess of

250 hectares, as everything is based on the site plan.

That in this case, Lhe Chief authorised 2000 hectares, which was an
approximation. However, he clarificd that they were not dealing with
conversion of the land, even though the Chief had authorised the 2000

hectares.

In cross examination by Counsel lor the petitioners, RW4 testified that
inspection is done by the Ministry of Agriculture before a farm block is
created, He slaled that the Minisory of Agriculture did not inspeel
Luombwa. On being asked when he wenl (o Serenje, RW4 testilicd that it
was in 2017, He changed his position that the Ministory of Agriculture did
not inspect the land, when cross examined further, stating that it did

nspect the land, before the farm block was created.

RW4 agreed that where the procedure for conversion or land allocation is
not followed, the end product is irregular. He also agreed that the fth
respondent’s answer at page 36 of the petitivner’s bundle of pleadings
was filed in 2018, when he was already working there, That in paragraph
B of the answer, the &M respondent had stated that the application was

for conversion from customary land mto statutory tenure.
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RW4 agreed that David Sakala, the deponent of the affidavit in opposition
15 his work mate. [t was further his evidehce that three (3) forms are
filled in when converting land from customary mto statulory tenure, with
tive first one being filled in by the applicant, showing the area of the
lncation of the land, as well as the size of the land, and the plan namber.

He admitted that forms 1, 2 and 3 were never filled in.

stll m cross examinabion, BEW4 teshfied that when an application is
tabled at the Council, it is together with the site plan. He agrecd that
page 51 refers to the site plan at page 45, and that the hectarage
indicated on the two documents differs. He told the conart that the one ar

page 45 was created or extracted m 1947,

W4 also agreed that the minutes of the Council at page 40 are dated
24t January. 1996, while page 42 15 dated 287 March, 1996, He agreced
that there are no minutes atver L0 February, 1997, showimng thal the
site plan al page 49 passed (hrough the Council, Conlinuing with cross
examination, RWd agreed that when converting land from customary
tenure, an inspection report is done, showing whether there are people

on the land.

He stated that there was no such reporl belore the court, and hat the
survey diagram art page 119 of the petitioners’ bundle ol pleadings shows
thar Farm FF/45897, Central Provingee is in between customary land, and it
18 dated 2005, RW4 when referred to the notice to produce at pape 2 ol
the petittoners’ bundle of dacuments, stated that he could see the
boundary {for Farm 26 on the map, as well as Wilson Mwamfuli farm.

That Lo the right, was the boundary where farm 26 ended,



He agreed that on the site plan at page 435, there was a variation of the
boundary on the map, from thase at pages 1 and 2 of the Notice o
Produce. Further, thal pages 119-120 of the pehboners bundle of
pleadings extended o pages 1-2 of the Nouce o Produce, BEW4 also told
the court that page 158 was drawn in 196%, and it showea William
Chisenga, Mwewa Fiweme, and Wilson Mwamfuli villages, and thar there

were also parls for cullivation and plantation, and the Mulembo river.

His evidence was also that pape 160 is daled 2000, and has Lhe
Luombwa farm and Wilson Mwamfuli wvillage, Further in cross
examination, BW4 stated that page 3 of the notice to produce which has
a date stamp for 2012 for the Provincial Planner who is mores senior than
him, indicates Wilson Mwamituli Village: He stated that while the map for
1969 hasz villages, there are no villages on the 1983 map. He said that
the Ministry of Agriculture conducted mspection before the farm block

was created,

When referred to page 34 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings, he
agreed that it states that Serenje Families Displaced, and that the
District Agricultural Coordinator Chisebulka said that Vicker's land was
200 hectares, but he now had 2000 hectarcs of land. Further, that the
article states that when the larm block was created mn 1997, the people
whin were found there, were left, as the land was considered as
customary land, RW< testified that the disputed land is belween Farms

25 and 27, and that Farm 26 is between Farm 235 and 27.

He also agreed that the boundary for Farm No 26 does not include
Wilson Mwamiuli willage, and that the Council must advertise land that
15 avadlable, =0 that any persens can raise objection. BW4 also stated

that paragraph 9 of the B respondent’s affidavit in opposition ar page
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141 of the petrioners’ bundle of pleadings, states that the Council did
not issue a public notice. He agreed thal an advert can be taken to be a

public nolice,

[ have considered the evidence and the submissions. [t 18 commeon causc
that the 18 reapondent was the first non-indigenous settler on the land
in dispute, and it procecded to acquire a cerlificate of de. It is also not
n contention that the 1% respondent subsequently sold the land in
dispule to the 244 respondent, who also sold it to the 3% respondent, who
acepured & ninety nine (949) vear lease for the said land. It 1z alse nol in
dispute thar the 37 respondent sold the land to the 4% respondent, who
through the 5% respondent removed the petitioners [romn the said land.

The question iz whether the petitioners arc entitled Lo the reliefs sought?

The pelitioners allege violation of their buman rights following their
eviction Jrom the disputed land. They have brought the petition
challenging the violadon of their rights pursuant 1o Article 28 of the
Constitution, Chapter 1 of the Laws of Zambia which provides that,

“28. (1) Subject to clause {5}, if any person alleges thatl any of
the provisions of Articles 11 to 26 inclusive has been, is being
or is likely to be contravened in relation to him, then, without
prefudice to any other action with respect fto the same matier
which is lowfully available, that person may apply for redress
to the High Court which shall-

(@) hear and determine any such application;

fb) determine any guestion arising in the case of any person

which is referred to it in pursuance of clause (2]
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and which may, make such order, issue such writs and give
such directions as it may consider appropriate for the
purpose of enforcing, or securing the enforcement of, any of

the provisions of Articles 11 to 26 inclusive™.

'The first claim is for an order and declaration that the taking over of the
petitioners’ customary land without following the reguired procedure is
unconsticutional, and therefore null and wvoid. The pelifioners m the
submissions argue that the mandatory procedure [or alienation and

conversion of land in a customnary area was nol followed as;

1. No consent and approval from Senior Chief Muchinds were

obrained.

2, The petitioners, as persons who were likely to be allected were
never consulted, and they did nol give their consent, andjar
concurrently were unable to rmise objection before the disputed
land was allocated to the l#t respondent, contrary to Section 3
(4)ik)c)id) of the Lands Act. The petitioners refer to Section 3{4) of
the Lands Act, Chapter 184 of the Laws of Zambia, as providing for

the procedure lor alienating land that is held in a cuslomary area.

It is rheir argument that the undisputed evidence on record shows that
the disputed land was held under customary tenure belore the certificate
of title No L5161 relating to Farm No F/9397, Central Province wus
issued Lo the 1% respondent in 1998, as shown on the Lands Regisler at
page 37 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings. Reference is also made o
the evidence of BRW3, (he Senior Lands Cfficer at the Ministry of Lands
who in cross examination explained that the 1¥ respondent was issued

with a right of oceupancy, which is given when an applicant obtains title
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in an area under customeary law, which (s a lease attached to a certificars

of title,

Further, that this witness in examination in chiel told the court that
Farm Mo FAu95%7, Central Provines was numbered, alter 11 was converted
frem customary into statutory teoare in Senior Chiel Muchinda's area,
arid lhat the correct procedure was tollowed for the conversion, as the
Chief gave his consenl, and the 6% respondent, being the local authority

recemmended the allocation of the land to the i respondent,

The 4" and 5t respandent’s position are that indeed the righl procedure
was Iollowed in acquiring title to the land. The &% respondent in its
answer and affidavit 1n opposition also alleges that the right procechare
was lollowed 1 converting the land. However, as rightly chserved by the
petitioners, al the trial, the &5 regspondent gave evidence to the effect that
the land in 1ssue was 1 fact under a farm block, and therefore state
land, and consequently, there was no need to follow the procedure for
conversion from customary info starutery fenure, as it was already stale

land.

The peliioners submit that they objected to that line of evidence being
led, as it was not pleaded, which objection is sustained. Reliance is
placed on the case of Anderson Kambela Mazoka and two others v
Levy Patrick Mwanawasa and two others 21 where Lthe Supreme

Court held inter alia thar:

“The function of pleadings, is to give fair notice of the case
which has to be met and to define the {ssues on which the
court will have to adjudicate in order to determine the
matters in dispute between the parties. Once the pleadings
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have been clesed, the parties are bound by their pleadings

and the court has to take them as such.

In case where any matter not pleaded is let in evidence, and
not objected to by the other side, the court is not and should
not be precituded from considering it. The resciution of the
issue will depend on the weight the Court will attach to the

evidence of unpleaded issues”.

That maller was commenced by way of pertition challenging the election
of the Ist respandent, as republican president, and this matter has also
been commenced by way of petition. Therefore, going by the holding in
the above matter, the 3 respondent is bound by (ts pleadings, and it
cannot depart [rom them, especially thal the petitioners raised objection

o evidence being led on the unpleaded malters,

In any cevent, the petitioners have by their testimony and the
topographical maps at page 158 of the petitioners” bundle of pleadings
daled 1969, shown the exdstence of Wilsen Mwamifuli village where the
1# and 2rd petitioners state that came from, as well as Kunda Pini village

where the 7% pellioner, testified that she came [rom.

Kunda Pini village along with other villages 15 also reflected al page 159
dated 1983, while the Ndabala arca map that is dated 2000 at page 160
shows borh Kunda Pimi and Wilson Mwamfuli villages on the land in
dispute, which is located in & customary area, Further, these maps show

areas of cultivation around Lhe villages.

There is also the map at page 1 of the Notce to Produce which has a date
stamp for the deparunent of field services in Central Province for

February, 2002, as well as the date stamp for Scoior Chief Muchinda
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dated 127 March, 2002, Thal map has [amm numbers as well as villages,
and as can be scen in Lthe lop right corner of that map, Farm 26 shares a
boundary with Wilson Mwamfuli village o the left, and at the top wiath

Farm 27

This scenarno 1s also reflected at pages 2 and 3 of the notice to produce
which even give a clearer view of the location of Farm 26 in relation to
Wilgon Mwaminli village, As rightly submitted by the petitioners, all
maps made under the authority of the government or any public
municipal body shall be admitted in evidence without further prool. This
1& provided for in Order § Rule 8 of the High Court Act, Chapter 27 of
the Laws of Zambia which stales as follows;

“8. All maps made under the auithority of any government or
of any public municipal body, and not made for the purpose
of any ltigated gquestion, shall prima facie be deemed to be
correct, and shall be admitied in cvidence without further

proaf™,

Therefore, the maps establish the existence of the villages as alleged |y
the petrtioners, When one goes to the Lands Register which ia at page 57
aof the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings, the first entry on that decument
shows that the 1% respondent was granted a right of occupancy on 307"

July, 1998 lor 2040 heciares.

O the same date, the 18 respondent was issued wilh a certiicale of dtle
No L3161 for Farm No F/9397, Ceniral Proviniee, BRW3 testified 1n cross
examination that a right of occupancy 18 issued o a person who acquires
a certificate of title to land held under custemary temare; which is

cquivalent to a lease, This esvidence was not discredited in any way.
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The evidence on record as given by the 2=, and 7 petihoners is that
they were bormn on the dispuled land, were married on the disputed land,
and they inherited the land from their parents. Therefare, Farm No

F/95L97, Central Province 18 1h a customary area.

It has been scen that a certificare of ttle was 1ssucd for the said land.
EW3 look the courl through lhe procedure [or converting land from
customary into statwlory tenure. [n this regard, he teatified that the firsr
step in the conversion process is that the person applymg to convert the
land approaches the Chief who accepts the application, and wntes a
letter to the Council. The Council en receiving the letter sends ils ollicers
to go and mnspect the land to ascertam whether there are ne settlers on
the land, who will be displaced as a result ol the Commissioner of Lands

approving the converslon,

RW4 also ran the court through this procedure when he stated that the
initial point of contact is the Chief, where they ocbtain consent of the
Chief, and site plans are prepared. The applicant then fills 1n 4 form that
has g part [or the Chief Lo s1gn, and that i part 1, the applicant Glls in
their detadls, and submits it to the Council, RW4 also tesulied that the
Council on checking the application will determine if the Chief has given

consent, and has endorsed the site plan.

From there, the Council wall establish if the land 15 a forest, township or
district, or one of sensitive nationial nterest, and they will conduet
mepection of the land, and thereafter, forward the application ta the
relevanl commillee. He also testified that from there, the application goes
o the full Council meeling, and the Council fills in part 2 making

recommendations, He also tesiiied that Annexure C is also [illed in and
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the parcel ot land,

In terms of conversion of land from customary into statulory tenure,
Section 3(4) of the Lands Act, Chapter 184 of the Laws of Zambia

orovides as follows;

“{4] Notwithstanding subsection (3), the President shall not
alienaie any land sifuated in a district or an area where land

is held under customary tenure-

) without toaking into considerdtion the local customary
law on Iand tenure which is not In conflict width this
Act;

fb) without consulling the Chief and the local authoritiy in
the area in which the land to be alienated is situated,
and in the case of a game management area, and the
Director of National Parks and Wildlife Service, who
shall identify the piece of land to be alienated;

fc) without consulfing any other person or body whose
interest might be affected by the grant; and

fd)if an applicant for a leasehold title has not obfoined the
prior approval of the chief and the local authority

urthin whose areg the land is situated™.

Statutory Instrument No 89 of 1996, The Lands {Customary Tenurej
fConversion] Regulations, 1996 providecs for the procedure for

converting customary land inte statulory lenure. Regulations 2 and 3 of
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the said statutory instrument allow a person lo apply for conversion and

it provide as follows;
2. (1) A person-

{a) whoe has a right to the use and occupation of land under
customary tenure; or

(b using and occupying land in a customary area with the
intention of settling there for a period of not less than five

years;

may apply, to the chief of the area where the land is situated,
in Form I as set ocul in the Schedule, for the conversion of

such helding into a leasehold tenure.

2] The Chief shall consider the application and shall give or

refuse consent,

{3) Where the Chief refuses consent, he shall communicate
such refusal to the applicant and the Commissioner of Lands
stating the reasons for such refusal in Form II as set out in
the Schedule.,

(4) Where the Chief consents to the application, he shalil
confirm, tn Form IT as set out in the Schedule.

{a)that the applicant has a right to the use and occupation
af that land;

(b} the peried of time that the applicant has been holding

that the land under customary tenure; and

fc) that the applicant is not infringing on any other
person’s rights;
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and shall refer the Form to the Council in whose area the

land that is to be converted s situated.

3. (1) The Council shall, after receiving the Form referred to in
sub-regulation {4) of regulation 2, and before making a
recormmendation to the Commissioner of Lands, consider
whether or not there is a conflict between customary law of

that area and the act.

(2) If the Council is satisfied that there is no conflict between
the customary law of that area and the Act, the Council shall
make a recommendation to the Commissioner of Lands in

Form Il as =et out in the Scheduie™.

(3} The Commissioner of Lands shall accept or refuse to accept
the recommendation, and shall inform the applicant

aocordingly”.

Repgulation 4 of the said regulations also empowers Councils to apply for

conversion af land from custfomary into statutory tenure. It states Lhat;

“3. (1] Where a council considers that it will be in the
interests of the community to convert a particular parcel of
land, held under customary tenure into a leasehold tenure,
the council shall, in consultation with the Chief in whose
area fthe land to be converited is situated, apply to the

Commissioner of lands for conversion.

{2} The council shall, before making the application

referred to in sub-regulation (1),-
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fa)ascertain any family or communal interests or rights

relating to the parcel of land to be converted; and

(b} specify any interests or rights subjects to which a grant of

leasehold tenure will be made™.

In this case, the evidence showing the procedure cutlined above as
shown at pages 35- 39 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings, is that the
L= responcent filled in the Annexure C application for Farm No 26
Luombaa, Serenje on 225 January, 1996, Page 39 shows that the [ull
Council mecting on 28" March, 1996 ratfied the PWD's approval of the
1% respondent’s application under tem PWD 113796 (48). The minutes

af that meeting are at pages 12-43 of the pettioners’ bundle of pleadings.

The mimates of the PWD meeting which are al pages 40-41 of the
petitioners’ bundle of pleadings show thar the mieeting was held on 24%
January, 1996, At page 44 ol the petitioners® bundle of pleadings is a
letter [rom Senior Chief Muchinda dated 10t February, 1997, addrossed
te the Council Secretary stating that Mr P.L, Yssel had heen authorised
to seftle as a commercial farmer in the Luombwa tiver near the Mulembo

river, and that he had been given 2000 hectares of land.

Al page 45 is a skewch plan, that has a date stamp for Senior Chief
Muchinda with a date that is not clear, and one from the Ministry of
Agriculture dated 15% March, 1997, and another from the Serenje
Ingrrier Counedl with an unclear date, but in March, 1997, [{ indicates
that it iz a sketeh plan for Farm 26 Lusmbwa Farm Block, for Mr Yssel
dated January, 1997, and it has a map [or Farm No 26 for 2040

hectares,
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At 51 of the said bundle of pleadings is a letter from the Serenje District
Council dated 274 ©March, 199%Y to the Commissioner of Lands
submitting the sketch plan for numbering of Farm No 26 for the I«
respandent, having approved the 1 respondent’s application for farm
land in Luombwa area of 1300 hectares. The letter states thal the fum 1s
[ree of village settlements, Then at page 54 is the letter that Mr Yssel
wrote to the Mimister of Lands applving for 2040 hectares of land on 10%

Yecember, 19497,

The Commissicner of Lands on 260 December, 1997 wrote {o the
Minmister of Lands adwvising thar Mr Yasel was applyving for the extra 1790
heetarcs of land, out of the 204H) hectares, as per the Lands Circular No
1 ol 1285, as he had 130 heads of cattle and 200 heads of sheep, as seen
at page 54 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings. Page 55 of the said
bundle of pleadings is the approval by the Minister that was

communicated by the Depuly Permanenl Secretary on 28™ May, 1998,

It i3 clear from the deocuments mentioned above that the procedure as
stipulated in Section 3 (4 of the Lands Act and Statutory Instrument
No 89 of 1996, The Lands [(Customary Tenure] [Conversion)
Regulations, 1996 was nol followed, as when the 1% respondent apnlied
for the land on 229 JJanuary, 1996, the consent of the Chief had not
been obtained, However, the PWD went ahead to approve the allocation
o 244 January, 1996, twoe days after the application was made, The full

Council meeting ratified the decision of the PWD on 28% March, 1996,

Then on 27% March, 1997, the Council wrote to the Commissioner of
Latds submitting the site plan for numbering as they had approved Mr
Yazel's application [or & farm in the Luombwa area. In fact, the site plan

at 15 of the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings was anly prepared in
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January, 14997, after the full Council had rafified the PWD's approval of
the lst respondent’s apphication, when there was no consent from the

Chiel and no skelch plan 1o show the land.

[t ¢can therefore be concluded, lhat the Council did not even do any
inspection of the land hefore the PWD approved the application, as there
was no sketch plan m place, identifyving the area that the 1 applicant
was applving for. 1L can further be concluded that the sketch plan was
vnly drawn later in Janusry, 1997 to facilitate the conversion process of

the land.

Section 3i4) of the Lands Act requires thal the Cormmissioner of Lands
shall no alienare any land in customary without consulling any persons
whao are likely o affected by the alienartion process. The petitioners rely
el Lhe case of Henry Mpanjilwva Siwale, Reverend Ewen Siwale,
Kelvin Siwale, Stephen Siwale, Dr. Sichilindi Siwale, Peart Siwale,
Musenga Siwale v Ntapalila Stwale 12 where il was stated that;

“We have already made reference to the fact that this Iand
when it was given fto the deceased was on what was then
called native trust land. Tenure in these lands was governed
by the Northern Rhodesia (Native Trust Land] Orders in
Council, 1947 to 1963 as amended by the Zambia {Trust Land)
Order, 1964 repealed and replaced by the Lands Act of 1995,
These orders in Council provided for customary tenure of such
land and the learned trial Judge was in error when he held
that the deceased did not have title to the land in question at
the time of his demise. Following from that is the foact that
the appellants had as much right to that land as the
respondent being all children of the deceased. Further there
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were restrictions in the alienation of [and held under
customary tenure in the Order 5 in Council which dare now to
be found in seetion 3 (4) fe] of the Lands Act which provides as
follows:

3f4) Notwithstanding subsection (3], the President shall
not allenate any land sttuated in a district or an area where

land is held under customary tenure ;

fo} Without consulting any other person or body

whose interest might be affected by the grant;

Quite clearly the appellants were perseons who were affected
by the grant of the title deeds to the appellant and they were

not consuited before this was done”.

Other cases relied on in this regard are Village Headman Mupwaya
and another v Mbaimbi 11! and SHll Waters Limited v Mpongwe
District Council and others 15, The petitioners have further relied on
the case of Sailas Ngowani and 6 others v Flamingo Farms Limited
@3 slating that the Supreme Court in that matter pronounced on the
effects of circumventing the procedure [or ahenation of land held under

customary tenare when it acated that;

"We have already pointed out earfier that the failure to follow
the procedure could render the whole acquisition process null
and void, as we stated in the Still Water Farms v Mponguwe
Distriet Council and other..... the effect of such a finding is
that a certificate of title is lable to be cancelled”,

| have already slated that when the 1% respondent applied for the land

now known as F/9597, Cenlral Provinece, and it was approved by the 6t



respondent, the Chiel had not consented to the alienation of the land,
and neither was there a sketch map to show Llhe land that the 19
respondent was given, The documents in the notice 1o prodhice show that
the Ministry of Agricullure only did the sketch map in January, 2002
which shows thal Farm No 26 had been created, and the map has a date

stamp for Chiel Muchinda

Further, the petitioners who were on the land were nol consulted when
the &= respondent approved the allvcauon of the land to the 1#
respondent in January, 1996, which was ratified by the full Council
meeting of 280 March, 1995, ag there are no documents Lo show Lhal
any inspection of the land was done, or indeed that the peliloners were

consulbed.

When otre goes further, they will note that the petitioners allege that the
survey diapram which is attached to the certificate of title far Farm hao
F /95497, Central Pravince, which is al page 68 of the petitioners’ bundle
of pleadings, uscd the map 1329 B2 as a reference for the diagram, when
the sketch map which was used to survey the land, which 15 al page 49
of the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings, which was approved by the
Mimistry of Agriculiure, used the reference map 1329 Bl arid 1330A1,

and the map 1329 B2, has not been produced before this court,

Ifurther, the sketch plan al 45 was extracted from the main lay our map
for Luombwa Farm Block, which EW3 in cross examination admitted was
that 4l pages 1-2 ol the notice to produce, and this diagram was only
produced in August, 1997, way after the sketch map at 45 was produced
in January 1997, The Chief anly endaorsed the lay out map for Luombwa
Farm block in 2002, signifying his consent that the farm block be

created.



The peritioners also submit that EW4 i cross examination agreed rhat
the farm numbers on he man lay out plan were just provisional for
administrative purposes only. They further contend thal the crealion of
the farm block in 1997 was corroborated by DACO, Mr Chisebuka in the
newspaper article at page 43 ol lhe peulioners’ bundle of pleadings,
when he stated that when the [amm block was created, the villagers on

the disputed land were left because the area is customary land.

Further anomalies highlighted by the petitioners’ in the conversion ol the
dispured land into statutory tenure, relate lo the facl that the farm block
wag created in 1997, and the farms were given numbers, yvetr in January,
19496, when the 1% respondent applied for the land, it had referenced the
farm as being No 26. They further contend that the main lay out plan at
page 2 of the notice to produce shows that the Luombwa river 1s the
houndeary for Farm No 26 on the east, and a section of the Mulembo river

on the north belore the boundary of the farm turns north.

lowever, when one looks at the sketch plan al page 45 of the petitioners’
bundle of pleadings. the boundary for Farm 29 extends past the
Mulembo river up to the Nilenge river, covering 2040, hectares. That KW
in crogs cxaminaton apgreed to this variation on the maps. They further
arpuse that as can be seen on the map at page 138 of the pehitioncrs’
bundle of pleadings, the Luombwa river 1s shown where it passcs on
sheet 132% B2, bur it is not shown on Sheet No 13304A1 and shoeet No

1329 B1, which were used as the source for the sketch plan for Farm No
26,

The petitioners also state that the Luombwa river passes belween the
vertical grids 814 and 515 al Lhe bollom, and vertical grids 823 and 824

at the top of sheet No 1329 B2, Thus sheet no 1330A1 and sheet No
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1329 H1 indieate the wrong location for purposes of the sketch plan [or
Farm No 26, and when the Mistey of Agriculture, the Chief and the 6w
respondent were approving the sketeh map, they should have used Sheet
o 13290, where the villages, Wilson Mwamfuli, Mwewa Fiweme and the

other two unnamed villages and cultivation are indicated.,

They submit that as Sheet No 1330A1 and Sheet No 1329 Bl on the
skeleh plan are different areas, the purported physical inspection was
done in the wrong area, where the inspector could notl see the villages
and cultivation aclivilies on Sheer No 1329 B2. The submit that the
sketch plan at page 45 of the petitioner’s bundle of pleadings does not
show any swrrouncding features on the map, apart from the Luombws

and Ntenga rivers.

However, when lonks at the survey diagram at pages 68 and 69 of the
petitioners’ bundle of pleadings, they will note that when Farm 1179397,
Central Province was surveved in 2005, there was already Farm No 8952
on title, which is adjacent to the boundaries ED and DC. This [arm No
nor its’ provisional number is not indicated on the sketch plan, despile
them being contained on the gencral lay out plan from which it was

exlracted.

They also submil that RW4 in cross examination stated that the survey
diagrams attached Lo the certificate of title for Farm F/9597, Central
Province at pages 119-120 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings were
made with reference to ithe maps at pages 158 and 159 of the pettoners’
bundle of pleadings. That RW4 when referred to the map al page 158
agreed that it has symbols for villages at the vertical grid 817 and the

horizontal grid 8554, The pelidoners state that this witness in re-



examination testified that the survey diagram was made with reference to

the 1983 map at page 1349, which has village and cultivation symbaols.

However, RW4 claimed that the willages were far away from the land in
dispule, but the sketcl: plan at page 45 does not show any areas of
cultivation by the nearby villages around Farm 26, Thatl as already scen,
the source of informartion for the skketch map being Sheetr No 1330A1 and
sheet no 1329 B1 do nat show the said areas, and the stakehnlders were

therefore looking at the wrong areas.

It 18 also submitled by the petibioners that as the sketch plan at page 45
has so many anomalies, the whole process of approval for Farm No 26
was tainted, and even the last minute claim that the land was a farm
block dees not help the situation, Further, that even where the Chief has
consented that a farm block be created, the legal requirements to convert
such land from customary inta statutory temare muast be complied with,
andd Lhal regulation 2 of the Lands [Customary Tenure] [Conversion)
Regulation which prescribes the conversion of customary tenure into

leasehold tenure applies.

The petitioners state tnat Regnlation 4 of the Lands (Customary Tenure)
(Conversion) Regulation applies to conversion of customary land into
statutory lenure by the Council. Tt is further submitted that regulation 4
was considered i the case of Danwell Lishimpi v Steadfast Chombela
and five others 28, The ial Judge in that matter noted thar the
regulation states that where the Council wishes to convert land under
customary tenure inta statutory tenure, they must consult the Chief
before malang the application, 1o establish: whether there are any family
or communal interests or rights relating tw the parcel of land to bhe

converbed.
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The submission is that it was noted in that case, that a representation
was made to the Chiel that there were no villagers on the land, and that
it was all in Mwalilinda Village, vel in reality there was someone on the
land, and it also encroached on land belonging to another headman. The
court Iound thal the musrepresentation was the basis of the grant of the
certificate of title, and thercfore, the Chief's consent and approval by the
Council were null and void, on account of the misrepresentation. Il is
stated that the court accordingly ordercd that the certificate of title be

cancelicd on that account.

The petidoners contend that just like in the sbove case, the =
respondent gave mcorrcct data sources on the skeich plan, which was
for different locations lar away from Farm F/9597, Cenlral Province.
Further, the 14 respondent did not disclose that the petitioners were in
pecupation and use of the land, The skelch plan does not even indicate
the exsting physical feanures ke Wilsonn Mwamfuli village, which has

been constantly indicared on the maps produced by the government,

Further, the Comrmissioner of Lands was advised thal the land was free
of village sertlements, yel no mspection of the land was conducled before
e land was approved, and the 6 respondent deliberated and approved
e application, even before the Chiel gave the land to Mr Yssel and

before the sketch plan was drawn.

The petilioners also submir that had Senior Chief Muchinda and the
Commissioner ol Lands been infarmed that the petiioners were in
pccuparion of the land and used it, they would not have approved the
allacation of the land. Therefore, the 1# respondent with the help of the

6t respandent, obtained Scnior Chief Muchinda’s conscent, and the
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approval of the Commissioner of Lands after making misreprosentations

on the status of the land,

Thus, the [alure to discloze that Farm No 26 was located on Sheet No
13258 B2, and lhat the petiioners were in occupalion and in use of it, as
well as the failure Lo involve headman Pini under whom the land fell, was
hughly rregular and fraudulent, and the approval should be declared null

and veid, on account of the fraudulent misrcpresentation.

It is alse contended that the allocation of the disputed land to the 1
respondent by the 8 respondent was by mistake. This is on account of
the fact that wheén the 6% respondent submitted the recommendation to
the 87 respondent, it stated that it had approved 1300 hectares, bul the

gt respondent mistakenly granted 2040 hectares of land,

Fehanee iz placed on tne case Justin Chanse v the Lusaka City

Council 23 which held that;

“(1) The authority to consider applications for land allocation
from members of the public is vested in the President of
Zambia who has delegated this authority to the Commissioner
of Lands.

(2} An applicant for land has in terms of circular Number 1 of
I985, an option either to apply directly to the Commissioner
of Lands, or to apply through a Local Authority which has
been delegated powers to receive applications for land from

members of the public.

(3] Where a member of public opts for the second route, a
Local Authority is mandated to advertise any land available,



receive applications from members of the public and make

recommendation to the Commissioner of Lands”.

That in this case, the 1% respondent applied for the land through the 6t
respundent, the local authority, who only recommended the allocation of
1300 hectares, which it said had no village settlers. The pefitioners
contend thar the &2 respendent did not recommend the extra 700
hectares, or wrile & report that there were no settlers on that extra 700

hectares.

It is also contended that there iz no separate application for the 1790
hectares of land to the Commissiener of Lands, but a Ietter directiv to the
Minister of lands, as it was a conversion of customary land, and required
the involvement ol (he 6 respondent, whose is only authorised to
recommend 250 heclares, as provided under the Land Adminisoration

Circular Ko 1 of 1985,

The petitivniers submit that RW3 in his testimony explained this, when
he testified that the Commissioner of Lands can only approve 250
hectares, and the Minister of Lands approves anything above that, Thar
as under Section 3({$i(b) of the Lands Act, the President hags no aurhority
to alienate land in customary area without consulting the local authority
in whose ares the land is located, and therefore, the allocation of the

cxtra 700 hectares of land to the 14 respondent was done by mistake,

This is because the & respondcent only recommended 1, 300 heclares
and not 2000 hectares, and the 64 respondent was not consulled on the
extra 700 hectares, to ascertain if it was free from any village settlemnent,
Further, Scnior Chicl Muchinda enly authorised Mr Yssel and not the

company, wha is the 1= respondent to setile as a commercial farmer, The
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pefitioners submit that a company has separate legal personality from
the individual, as espoused by the caze of Salemon v Salomon & Co

Ltd 13,

It is also submiftted thal on the applicalion at page 49 ol the petitioner’s
bundle of pleadings, Mr Ysscl had completed Section C which is the part
for non- Yambians. He had indicated that he was bringing his wilc to
settle in Zambia and would invest 200, 000 Rands, That under Seetion
3 (I} of the Lands Act. the land scquisition requirements for foreign
companies and foreign individuals are different, and it was therefore a
serions mistake to treat the authorization of Mr Yssel as the
autharisation for 1 respondent, who are different persons at law, and
who were also subject to different legal requirements under Section 3(1)

of thie Lands Act,

Thus, it was frandulent for the 1# and 6% respondents to use the letler of
congenl to Mr P, Yssel as the Chief's consent in lavour of the 1=
respondent, when making recommendation to the Commissioner of
Lands for allocation of the land, It is also the petitioners’ contention that
the Commissioner of Lands also mistakenly approved the allocalion of
the land to the 18t respondent bascd on the letler of consent from the
Chief to Mr P. ¥ssel, ag letter fraom the Chief should have been sought for

the 1# respondent,

The 4th and 3 respondents however argue that Secdon 33 of the Lands
and Deeds Registry Act provides for the effect of the issuance ol a
certificate of title. This is thal, a certificate of title is irrefutable evidence
of ownership of land. The case of Anti Corruption Commission v
Barnnet Development Corporation Limited 26 is relied on, stating thal

it was held in thal case that;
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“Under section 33 of the Lands and Deeds Registry Aci, a
certificate of title is conclusive evidence of ownership of land
by a holder of a certlificate of title. However, under section 34
of the same Act, a certificate of title can be challenged and
cancelled for fraud or reasons for Impropriety in its

acquisition”,

They conlend thal the evidence that was adduced m this matter does not
gullice 1o prove any ol the exceplions staled in Section 33 of the Land
and [Deeds Registry Act. That RW3 and RW4 established that the
cerfificate of title to the land in dispute was acquired by the former
owners of the property, before the 4% respondent followed procedure in
acquiring the tdtle, Thus, the claim for acguisition of the certificate of title

by lraud, cannot be sustained,

They alse rely on lthe cese of Sablehand Zambia Limited v Zambia
Revenue Authority Y o argue thal allegations of fraud must be
specificaliy pleaded and proved on a higher standard than a mere
balance of probabilities, because they are criminal in nanare, That this
position was reiterated in the cases of Kalumba Kashiwa Mwansa and

another v Kenneth Mpofu 5% and Baxter v Baxter (3,

The 4th and 3% respondents contend that in this case, fraud has not been
pleaded, or distinctly proved, and the petitioners only tried to elicil this
evidence of fraud through cross examination of BW3 and RW4. Therelore,
the allegations must fail, and the petitioners cannot call to aid the
provisions of Sections 33 and 39 of the Lands and Deeds Regisury Act,

yet i another, allege that they are uncanstitational,
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In the case of Anti Corruption Commission v Barnnet Development
Corporation Limited 6 it was held that a cerfificate ol Litle may be
cancelled on the ground that it was fraudulently oblained or due to any
impropriety in its acguisition, This position was reiterated in the case of
Sailas Ngowani and six others v Flamingo Farms Limited 35, | do
entirely agree thar allegations of fraud must be specilically pleaded

seiting our the particulars of the [rand,

Further, ar trial, evidence must be specifically led to prove the allegationg
of fraud, and the standard of proof for fraud, is on a higher standard
than a balance ol probabilities. the allegatons being criminal in nature.
In this case, the petition alleges [fraud, and as can be seen, the
particulars of the fraud that are allegped relate to the procedural
improprieties in the manner that the disputed land was converted from

customary into statutery lenure.

Moreover, fraud is not the only ground upon which a certificate ol Lille
may he cancclled, as any other teasons for impropriety in the
acquisition, sufllice. These reasons arc varied, and include irregularities
relating io breach of procedural requirements, among others. The
pelilioners have shown that the procedure for converting the land from

customary intoe slalulory temare was not followed,

This is becausec, nol only was the Chief’s consent not obtained before the
1% respondent made the application, as there was no sketch plan at the
rime the applicalion was made or the consent of the Chief. Further, the
petitioniers who weare on the land and who were affected by the allocation
of the land, were not consulted as required by Section 3 (4] of the Lands
Act. The letter from the Chief authorising Mr Yssel to settle as a farmer

and he was given 2000 hectares of land, as well as the sketeh plan
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showing the land allocaled was done post faclo, 1 19497, after the 5

respondent had approved the allocation of the land to the 15 respondent.

Thus, it can be said that the land thal the 6™ respondent approved for
allocation to the 1¥ respondenl was not known, and whether the
approval affected the local community, and who were obviously noi
consulted before the land was approved for allocation to Lhe 1=

respondent.

Clearly, the 6% respondent did not comply with regulatons 2 and 4 of
Statutory Instrument No 89 of 1996, the Lands (Customary Tenure]
{Conversion) Regulations, 1996, as they did nol work in consultation
with the Chief to establish if there were any village settlera on the land,
and the maps uscd w draw the sketch plan used ito make the

recommendation to the Commissioner of Lands was erroneous.

The Chief was just used as a rubber stamp tw legitimise the process, and
he did not care to check if his subjects had been wallected by his
recommendation, and authentication of the sketch plan. Other
irregularities relate to the hectarage of the land that the &t respondent
recommended for allecatuon, but the &% respondent approved @ higher

nectarage.

There is no evidence to show that there was consultation with the &t
respondenl lo ensure that there was no village settlement on the extra
hectarape of land that was approved, The 8 respondent did not even
address the issues relating to Scction 3 of the Lands Act which sets our
the regquirements for foreign individuals and foreign companies when it

comes tn ownership ol land in Zambia.,
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In the case of Sailas Ngowani and 6 others V Flamingo Farms

Limited 59 the Supreme Court noted as follows;

“We wagree therefore with Counsel for the appellants that
fraud as prescribed in Section 33 of the Lends and Deeds
Registry Act does not provide the only pathway of the law as
circumvention of the procedure prescribed in law, which
would render null and void, the allocation of land would be

Just as fatal”,

Therefore, the Chief did nol validly consent to the land being allocated to
the 1% respondent, and the 8 respondent accordingly could not validiy
approve the allocation as there was breach of the procedural
requurements. On that basis, there having been frregularity in the
acolisition of the certificate of titie, it was not validly oblained, I will

return to this 1ssue later,

The petitioners’ evidence was that they have always lived on and used
the land, which evidence was conlirmed by RW1 who hails from the area.
It 15 on record thar the 4™ and 3th regpondents visited the land n 2011
belore they bought it They therefore had notice ol the petitioners'
preserce o the land. The petitioners’ contend that RW2, the 5T
respondent did net enquire about the petitioners’ interest in the land,
although he was aware that lhere was an agreement with the 3
respondent who was the previvus owner of the land to the effect that the

selilers had agreed to leave the land, once il was developed.

However, this agreement was nut produced before the court, and they
stale Lhat RW2 contradicted himsell as he inidally stated that the

agresmenil was wilh the foreman of the previous owner, but later said
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that 1t was lost. It 1s submitted thal the fsilure to produce the agreement
should work against the 4t and 59 respondents, pursuant to the case of
K.B. Davies & Company Limited (Zambia) Limited v Andrew Masunu

(23]

That on the basis of the cases of Hunt v Luck @ and Mwenya and
Randee v Kapinga 19 the 47 respondent cannol be said lo be an
mnocent purchaser for value, as it had notice of the peliuners’
cocuparion of the disputed land. It is contended that the 4% respondent
had a cuty to enguire about the peulioners’ interest in the disputed land,

since they were 1n occupation of the land.

Iri his regard, reference is made lo Howarth, Land Loaw, Sweet &

Maxwell, 1994 where it 15 stated that;

“A purchaser is under obligation to wundertake [full
Investigation of title before completing his purchase. He can
only plead the absence of notice if he made all the usual and
proper enquiries., if he does not do so, or is careless or
negligerit, he is deemed to have constructive notice of all
maitters he would have discovered. A person has constructive
notice of all facts of which he would have acquired actual
notice, had he made those enguiries and inspections, which
he ought reasonably to have made, the standard of prudence,
being that of a man of business under similar circumstances.
The purchaser should inspect the land and make enguiries as
to anything which appears inconsistent with the title, offered
by the vendor™.
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It is stated thar this posilion was roiterated in the casea of Nawaikw! v
Lusaka City Council and another ¥ and Nora Mwaanga Eayoba
and Afizanl Banda v Eunice EKumwenda Ngulube and Andrew
Ngulube (18 g Joyce Ndavuka Gondwe v Christine Zlwolilie Ngwira
R Further, Hanbury and Martin, Modern Eguity, {London, Sweet
and Maxwell Limited, 1997, ul page 27 states that;

“Thus, prior equitable interest in land can only be defeated by
a bona fide purchaser, and without notice, then the eguities
are equal, and his legal estate prevails. If he took with notice,
the position is otherivise, as the eguities are not egual. If he
does not acquire a legal estate, then the first in time, L.e the
prior egquitable interest prevails, as eguitable interests rank

in order of creation.”

John Mc Ghee QC, Snelis Equity, (London, Thomson Reuters {Legal)
Limited, 2008 in paragraph < 22 ar page 65-66 stales that:

“The doctrine is most easily understood by an example taken
Jfrom a disposition of unregistered land. A legal estate, or
interest was generally enforceable against any person who
took the property, whether, or not he had notice of it. This
followed from the basic rule of priority that interests in
property rank in the order in which they were created. If V
sold to P land over which W had c legal right of way, P took
the land subject to W's right even if he was ignorant of it. But
historically, it was different for equitable rights: a bona fide
purchaser for valuable consideration who obtained a legal
estate atf the time of his purchase without notice of a prior
equitable right, was entitled to priority in equity as well as at
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law. He took free of the eguitable interest. In such a case
equity followed the law. The purchaser's conscience was in no
way affected by the egquitable right. So, there was no
fustification for invoking the jurisdiction of equity against
him where there was equal eguity the law prevailed. The onus
lay on the purchaser to prove that he was a bona fide
purchaser for value, and alsc that he took without notice of
the egquitable interest.”

The evidence on record shows that the 4 respondent was aware ol the
petitioners’ presence on the land, While RW2 tesufied that he was awarc
Lhat there was an agreement thal the locals who were on the land signed
with the foreman of the 3¢ respondent, that they would leave the laned
whern 11 was developed, he did not establish thal any of the petitioners

had actually gigned the said agreement,

The cross examination of RW2 established that there were workers on
the farm wha lived there, and the agreement signed may have related to
them. He did naot establish that any of the petitioners actually worked for
the previous owners of the farm, Rather, the testimony of the 15, 2ud gand
7 petitoniers shows that they were born on the land and they lived
there, having inherited it from their parents under cuslomary law, Even
the maps at pages 138-159 of the petitioners’ bundle of pleadings, as
well as rthose in the nolice to produce, show that the villages where the

peationers state thev hailed [rom, existed,

The Nature of African Customary law by T.0 Elias, Manchester

Uriiversity Press, Manchester, 1956 states thar;
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“A member’s right to his holding is in the nature of a
possessory title which he enjoys in perpetuity and which
confers upon him powers of user and of disposition scarcely
distinguishable from those of an absolute free-holder under
English law. His title is, therefore, in a sense that of a part-
owner of land belonging to his family. He is not a lessee; he is
not a licensee; he is not as is often said, an usufructuary. He
pays tribute to nobody, is accountabie to no one but himself,
and his interests and powers transcend those of the
usufructuary under the Roman law...... Again, the individual's
holding does not come to an end at his death, it is heritable
by his children to the exclusion of all others. In short, he is a
kind of beneficial part-owner with perpetuity of tenure and
all but absolute power of disposition™.

While there was an allegation that the 3+ petitioner came from Kabundi,

g

which was cxplained as being his father’s village, the 7 petitioner
testified that under Lala customary law when a man marries, he goes to
live in his wife's village, although he may later seek permission to take
lhas wile to his willage. The 1% petutioner told the court that Wilson
Mwamluli was his grandfather, and thercfore, he had customary rights to

the land, which evidenee was not disputed in anyway.

Under customary law, the 17 petitioner had rights to the land, and so did
the 279 petfitioner who also testified thal Wilson Mwamfuli was her
grandfather, although she called him uncle, The 72 pedtioner ftestified
Lhat her late husband was the headman in the area, again which

evidence went unchallenged.
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Scetion 3 (4) of the Lands Act, Chapter 184 of the Laws of Zambia allows
the President to alienate land in a customary area, aller taking into
accaunt the custormary law prevailing there. Therefore, in converting the
disputed [and nto statutory tenwre, Lala customary law had to he

consideread.

With regard to notice, Halsbury's Laws of England, Volume I8, 4th
Edition in paragraph L322 at page 887 states that:

“Notice may be actual or constructive, and where the sald
notice is imputed on the subsequent purchaser, then the plea

of the purchaser for value without notice is defeated”.

Going by what has been seen above, the 4% respondent had a duty to
encguire about the pentioners’ interest in the land, and not rely on the
word of a foreman for the 37 respondent, who s said to have signed an
agreement with the workers on the farm, who did not include the
petitioners. further, RW2 conceded in cross examination that bie was nol
at the actual mesting where the 3+ respondent’s foreman addressed (o

local settders, allhough he was al the lwrm working,

He therelore had no first hand knowledge of what was discussed, and not
having conducted enguinies, the 4 respondent is deemed Lo have had
notice of the petitioners’ mterest i the diaputed land. As such, il cannot
be said to be an innocent purchaser for value, As such the irregularity in
lhe procedure that was adopted lor converting the disputed land [fom

customary into stamtory Lenure, affects the 4 and 53th regpondents.

IL i1z not m contention thal around June, 2017, the 4t pespondent
through the 5% respondent asked the petitioners to leave Farm F/9597,

Central Provinee,; with the 1% and 2ud petitioners being amaong those whoe
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were allocated a tracter to help move them to Musangashi [orest where
the 74 pettioner, who had been evicted had been taken. The evidence on
record shows that the petitioners’ homes were demolished by a bull dozer

and their propertics, animals and crops destroved.

The cvidence given by the three (3) petitoners who testilied, which
largely went unchallenged, was that the petitioners were born on the
land, and had grown up on the land and mmhenited it from their parents,
The 1% petitioner gave elaborate testumony with vegard to what had
happened from the ume the |* réespondent settled on the land, testifving
that they had wrilten o Lthe Chiel to ask whal was happening when e
1# respondent cleared that land, and approached that belonging to the

#i: petitioner with a view to clearing it

His testimany was that the Chief had sent a letter through his retainer
addressed o Mr Yssel, stating that the 18 respondent’s land was away
from the petitoners’. That from there, Mr Yssel had called for a meeting
where he had asked thal the 80 pelidoner, and the three (3) other
families who were on that side of the land should move. However, they
had declined to do so, anc that was how they contired living in peace
with the 12 respondent and Mr Yssel until he left, after he sold the land

to the 271 regpondent,

The 1% petalioner had also testified that the 204 respondent upon buving
the land, had asked to De taken round the willages, and he had also
requested the 8 respondent and the other families to relocate, but they

had declined.

What this evidence establishes is thal the 1% and 2v respondents were

aware of the petitioners’ presence on the land, and further that the Chief



had given land to the 1% respondent that did nol meclude where the
petitioners and thew families had settled. | have found that the 1=t
respondent converted the disputed land from customary into statmatory
tenure without following the procvedure that is laid down, and proceeded

to obtain a certificate of title for the said land.

The effect of issuance of a certificate of title is seen in Sectlion 33 of the
Lands and Deeds Registry Act, Chapter 185 of the Laws of Zambia,

which provides thal:

“33. A Certificate of Title shall be conclusive as from the date
of its issue and upon and after the issue thereof,
notwithstanding the existence in any other person of any
estate or interest, whether derived by grant from the
President or ctherwise, which but for Parts III to VII might be
held to be paramouni or to have priority; the Registered
Propriefor of the land comprised in such Certificate shall,
except in case of fraud, hold the same subject only to such
encumbrances, liens, estates or interests as may be shown by
such Certificate of Title and any encumbrances, liens, estates
or interests created after the issue of such Certificate as may
be notified on the follum of the Register relating to such land
but absolutely free from all other encumbrances, liens, estates

or interests whatsoever:

{a) Except the estate or interest of a proprietor claiming the
same land under ¢ current prior Certificate of Title
issued under the provisions of Parts Il to VII; and
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fb) Except so far as regards the omission or misdescription
af any right of way or other easement creaied in or

existing upon any land; and

fe] Except so far as regards any poriion of land that may be
erroneously included in the Cerfificate of Title,
evidenicing the title of such Registered Proprietor by

wrong description of parcels or of boundaries”,

Thus, upon the 1% respondent obiaining a certificate of title for F/93597,
Central Province, the petitioners became squatters on the land, The effect
wis that there was a violation of their rights under Section 7 of the
Lands Act, Chapter 184 of the Laws of Zambia, which guarantees the
pelulicners land rnghlts under customary tenure. The SBection provides,

and I guote;

“7. (1) Neotwithstanding subsection (2) of section thirty-two but
subject fo section nine, every piece of land in a customary
area which immediately before the commencement of this Act
was vested in or held by any person under customary tenire
shall continue to be so held and recognised and any provision
aof this Aet or any other law shall not be 50 construed as to
infringe any custormuary right enjoyed by that person before

the commencement of this Aet,

(2] Notwithstanding section thirtytwe, the rights and
privileges of any person to hold land under customary tenure
shall be recognised and any such holding under the
customdry law applicable to the area in which a person has

settled or intends to seftle shall not be construed as an



infringement of any provision of this Act or any other law
except for a right or obligation which may arise under any

other law”.

The petitioners’ contend thal the District Agriculture Coordinator lor
Serenje, Mr Chisebuka in the newspaper article that was published in
the Zambia Daily Mail in 2013, which is at page 34 of the petitioners’
bundle of pleadings, explained that when the Luombwa Farm block was
being established in 1997, the seulers on the disputed land were left, as

it was considered as customary land.

It iz contendea that the petitioners have shown that they lived and
culdovared an the =said land, as did their parents before them. Fuarther,
their children even attended schoal at the nearby Ntenge School, as
shown in the school registers. The petitioners rely on the case of Dogan
and others v Turkey 17 stating that in that matter; a complaint was
taken before Lhe Eurvpesan Courl of Human Rights, following the forced
eviction of the applicants from their villages and destruction of ther

properoes.

The applicants moved to an area where they hived 1n poor conditions, and
the courl in that maller, noted that it was not in dispute that the
applicants had lived in Bovdas untl 1994, That although they had not
registered the property, they had construclted houscs on the land, or
lived in the houses that were owned by their fathers, and they had
cultivated on the said land. The court further stated thatl the applicants
had unchallenged nghts over the commeon lands in the village, such as
pasture, grazing and the forest land, and that they earned their living

lrom stock brecding and tree felling.
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In this marter, the petitivners allege that their forced eviction from the
disputed land violated their right 10 personal dignity as praotected by
Article 8 of the Constitution as amended by Act No 2 of 2016, which

provicdes that;

“8, The national values and principles are—
d. human dignity, eguity, social justice, egquality and

nondiscrimination:™

The case of Kingaipe and anether v The Attorney General 27 is relicd
on, where Hon Mrs Justice E.N.C Muyowwe with reference to the African
Charter on Human and Peopie’s rights stated that Article 118 of the
2016 Constitution guides the courts that in the exercise of ita hadicial
authority, the values and principles of the Constitution shall be upheld.
Also relied on, is the case of § v Makwanyane 1% where it was stated

Lhat;

“Recognizing the right to dignity is an acknowledgement of
the intrinsic worth of human beings: human beings are
entitled to be treated as worthy of respect and concern. This
right therefore is the foundation of many of the rights that
are specificaily entrenched in the Bill of Rights™

The petitioners allege that their right to dignity was violated when they
were torcibly evicted, and their homes and properties were destroved
leaving them homeless, landless and destitute, Further, they have been
forced to spend sleeploss nights in the Musanpashi Forest Rescerve, in

tents, where they have no dccess to readily available water and food.

Thul m the case of John Modise v Botswana 81t was held that exposing

viclims to personal suffering and indignity violates the right to human
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dignity, This position was echoed in the Soulh African cases of
Sarrahwitz v Maritz N.O and another 79 ancd Grace Musele Mpande
Maledu and 37 others v Itereleny Bakgatia Mineral Resources {Pty)
Limited and another #3 where the pellioners were evicted from

customary rural communities.

The petitionera further allege that their right o life as enshrined in
Article 12 (1} of the Constitution has been violated. The artcle stales
thaL;

“12. (1} A person shall not be deprived of his life intentionally
except in execution of the sentence of a court in respect of a
criminal offernice under the law in force in Zambia of which he

has been convicted....”.

In arguing the violation of this righrt, the pefitinners contend this rght
has been violated, as they bhave Lo spent nights in the Musangashi Forest
KReserve, m lents, which are damaged. They have no readily access to
water and [ood, and they have to travel long distances to access the
same. They submil that this has made them (o be subjected to dirt, duc
to the scarcity of waler. Further, there are no health scrvices readily
availlable them, wer when they were on the disputed land, they had
access 1o waler, and grew crops such as maize, sweet polatoes,

groundnuls, millel, tobacco, and cassava

They alsc had access to mangos, bananas and papaya and reared goats,
pigs and chickens, and could therefore afford to eat three (3) meals o1 a
daily basis. Further, the foresrs provided wild fruits such as ntungulu,
masuku, maundu, fungu, mushrooms, bark, sceds, roots, leaves and

sther plants, that they could use for sale and raise income. They also
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hunted small animals in the forests, and fished in the nearhy rivers, and

had constructed houses, latrines, bathrooms, kholas and granares,

Article 13 of the Constitution iz also alleged to have been violated by

the forceful eviction. The article provides that;

“13. (1} A person shall net be deprived of his personal liberty
except as may be authorised by law in any of the following

Coses;

fa) in execution of a sentence or order of a court, whether
established for Zambia or some other country, in respect of a

criminal offence of which he has been convicted;

(b in execution of an order of a court of record punishing him

for contempt of that court or of a court inferior to it;

{c] in execution of an order of a court made to secure the

Julfillment of any obligation imposed on him by law;

fd} for the purpose of bringing him before a court in execution

of an order of @ court;

(el upon reasonable suspicion of his having committed, or
being about to commit, a criminal offennce under the Ilaw in

Jorce in Zambia;

(fl under an order of a court or with the consent of his parent
or guardian, jor his education or welfare during any period
ending not later than the date when he attains the age of

eighteen years;

fg) for the purpose of preventing the spread of an infectious or

contagious disease;
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fh) in the case of a person who is, or is reasonably suspected
to be., of unsound mind, addicted fo drugs or alcohel or a
vagrant, for the purpose of his care or treatment or the
protection of the community;

{1} for the purpose of preventing the unlawful entry of that
person infto Zambia, or for the purpose of effecting the
expulsion, extradition or other lawful removal of that person
while he is being convewed through Zambia in the course of
his extradition or removal as a convicted prisoner from one

country to another; or

{fl to such extent s may be necessary in the execution of a
lewful order reguiring that person to remain within o
specified area within Zambia or prohibiting him from being
within such area, or to such extent as may be reasonably
justifiable for the taking of proceedings against that person
relating to the making of any such order, or to such extent as
may be reasonably justifiable for restraining that person
during any visit that he is permifted to make to any part of
Zambia in which, in consegquence of any such order, his

presence would otherwise be uniauful.

The peltioners conlend thal none of the exeeplions in the above artcle
apply to them, and thal under Article & of the African Charter on
Human and People's Rights, there is provision that every person shall
have the right to liberty and security of his person, and that no person
shall be deprived of their liberty, except for reasons and conditions

previously laid down by the law,
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They also make reference (o case of Sudan Human Rights
Organisation and Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions {COHRE)
v Sudan 3 where the Alrican Commission found that the forced
eviction, destruction ol housing and property and accompanving human
rights abuses, amounted o a violauon ol Article 6 of the Charter. That
the megority of the thousands of displaced civillans who were forcefully

evicted from their villages and homes had not returned.

It was further stated in that case that if Internally Displaced Persons
[IDF's) are not able {o move freely w their homes, because their homes
have been destroyed, then their liberty and freedom is proscribed. That
life in an IDP camp cannot be synonymous with the liberty enjoyed by a

[ree person in & normal sociery.

The petitivners in this mafter submit that they are not able to move
freely on the dispuled land as RW2 restified that it is now private land,
and one can only enter that land on being authorised by the 4t and 5h
respondents. The petitioners have been threatened with charges of
crimingl trespass should they enter the disputed land, They also contend
that in fesr of the destruction of their temporal homes and tents in the
Musangash: Forest Reserve, rhey are forced to stay at home, ta keep

watch over their propertics.

Further the life in Musangashi Forest Reserve cannol be said to be
synonymous with that which they enjoyved when they lived on the
disputed land. The petitioners also contend that they have been
subjected to inhuman and degrading treatment, which has viclated

Article 15 of the Constitution, which provides that;



“15. A person shall not be subjected to torture, or to inhuman

or degrading punishment or other like treatment™.

The case of Mukoko v The Attorney General 2% s relied on, stating
that the Supreme Court of Zimbabwe in that matter held rhat degrading
treatment can be any treatment that hamiliates or debases a person, or a
show of lack of respoet or diminishes a person’s human dignity or
armises feelings of lewr, anguish or inferiority, capable of breaking the
person’s  moral and  physical resistance, with  humibiation and

debuscment being the most relevand.

Further, reference is made to the case of Hifrizi v Yugoslavia (1%, where
the UN Committee on Tormare stated thal the forced ewiction and
destruction of the Bozova Glacia sertlement, in the cily of Danilovgrad by
private residernts who Zved nearbw, under the walchiul eye of the police
department which lailed te protect the settlers, violaled the people's
rights. The submission 13 Lhal it was held that the forced eviction and
deslruction of housing, carried oul by non-state actors amounts to cruel,
inhuman und degrading treatment or punishment, if the state fails to

protect the viclims from the violaticns of their rights.

It is submirted that the 7 respondent failed to protect the pelitoners
[rom the humiliation and abuse, and even when the matter was reported
lo the office of the [district Commissioner, nothing was done o restore
the dignity of the petitioners, other than to provide them with tents and

food for cne (1) month,

Btill on the viclation of their rights, the petidoners refer to Article 17 of

the Constitution, whach stares thar:
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17. (1) Except with his own consent, a person shall not be
subjected to the search of his person or his property or the

entry by others on his premises..... "

They submit that the 4 and 5% respondents entered upon thei
premises without their consent. and destroved their houses, properties,
assets, crops and uprooted their fruit trees, as can be seen from the

evidence of the three (3] pelilivners that testified in this matter.

They also submit that their reedom of movement has been hindered i
violaoon of Articles 21 and 22 ol the Constluton whose provision is

Lbzel;

“21. (1) Except with his own consent a person shall not be
hindered in the enjoyment of his freedom of assembly and
association, that is to say, his right to assemble freely and
associate with other persons and in particular to form or
belong to any political party, trade union or other association

for the protection af his interests,

22. (1) Subject to the other provisions of this Article and
except in accordance with any written law, a citizen shall not
be deprived of his freedom of movement, and for the purposes

of this Article freedom of movement means-

{a] the right to move freely throughout Zambia;

fb} the right to reside in any part of Zambin; and

fe) the right to leave Zambia and to return to Zambia®.

They submal that the forceful eviction has led them to sguat in

Musangashy Forest Reserve, which is very far lrom their relatives and
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fmends who are slong the Mulembo river, as seen from the villages
indicated sl page 158 of the petitioners' bundle of pleadings at grid 8557,
It Is submitted that this has made it very difficult for the petiioners to
associate with their relatives and friends, as well as conduct cudtural
rituals, partcipale in lradibonal eceremomes and conduct religious

observalons,

The submission is also that there are many commercial farmers in the
area who have fenced off portions of the forest that the pehilioners used
for their livelihood. They state Lhal the Mulembao river was part of their
identity, where all their ancestors were butied. The petitioners further
conlend thatl even their children are unable to attend schonl anymaore, as
it 15 [ar away [rom the lorest where they are squatting, and the children

are unable to walk there,

They rely on the case of Sudan Human Rights Organisation and
Centre on Housing Rights and Evictions {COHRE) v Sudan 22 where il
was observed that under mternational law, it s the duty of the State to
take all measures to avold conditions which might lead to displacement,
and thus impacting on the enjovment of freedom of movement and
residence, as provided in Principls 5 of the Guiding Principles on Internal
Maplacement. That vieolation eof this pnncple, m twnm violates Arucle

12{1) of the African Charter en Human and Peoples Rights.

[t 15 submitted that the 6 and ¥ fespondent’s fallure to cither prevent
the forced evictons or Lo take urgeni sieps Lo ensure the petitioners'
returnl Lo their homes was g violalion of Arlicle 22 ol the Constitution.
The peutioners Darther allege violalionn ol Artcles 23 and 266 ol Lhe

Consttution. Article 23 provides as [ollows;
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“23. (1} Subject to clauses (4, (5) and (7}, a law shall not make

any provision that is discriminatory either of itseif or in its
effect.

(2] Subject to clauses (6), (7] and (8], a person shall not be
treated in a discriminatory manner by any person acting by
virtue of any written law or in the performance of the

functions of any public office or any public authority.

(3] In this Article the expression ‘discriminatery” means
affording  different ftreatment to  different persons
attributable, wholly or mainly to their respective descriptions
by race, tribe, sex, place of origin, marital status, political
opinions, colour or creed whereby persons of one such
description dre subjected to disabilities or restrictions to
which persons of another such description are not made
subject or are accorded privileges or advantages which are

not accorded to persons of ancther such description®.

Article 266 of the Constitution as amended by Act No 2 of 2016 delines

discrimination as;

“discrimination” means directly or indirectly treating a
person differently on the basis of that person’s birth,
race, sex, origin, colour, age, disability, religion,
conscience, belief, culture, language, tribe, pregnancy,

health, or marital, ethnic, social or economic status;”

The submission is that the above articles provide for protection against

discrimination on the basis of tribe, place of orign, and gender among
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others, That the petboners are Lala people living in cusiomary land
according to their own customs and beliefs. However, the respandents
Have exploited these features of the petitioners’ identity, by
dizcriminating against them, and lreating them as sub humans. It is
stated that the petitioners’ lraditional customs and desires were not
respected by the respondents when they destroyed their homes and
burial sites, and forcefully evicted them.

-

[L is also the petitioners’ contention that the females have been
discriminated against, because they have been proportionately alfected
by the displacemicent. To supporl this position, reliance 15 placed on the
case of In R fon the application of Dalai and another) v Secretary of
State for the Home Department 29 where Siber J remarked that
indirect discrimination cccurs when a rule or practice is applied equally

to all individuals, but which has disproportioneate impacts on particular

members of a minority,

Further, that the UN Committee on Ecenomic, Social and Culiural
Rights (CESCR) noted in Genersal Comment Noe 7 in paragraph 10, that
women sulfer disproportionately from [foreed evictions, due to the
statutory and cultural discrimination regarding property ownership, as
well as being at increased vulnerability to acts of viclence and scxual

abnse after being rendered homeless,

The petitioners submit thal PW2 testified that under Lala custom whest &
man marrics, he leaves his home to go and live with his in laws. That
afler sometime, he may request his in laws if he can take his wife to his

[amily's village, and if he 15 allowes, he mayv do so. They state that when



a waman does not have land, it is very difficudt for her to pet married,

artd they are left with the burder: to provide for themselves.

It is further stared that i this matter, the pedtoncers woes have been
ecompounded by the fact thal tere is chironie water shortage, and foed
insecurity, which has had a disproportionate impact on the women and
children, with the nearest water point being a minimum of five (5]
kilgmetres away. That the lack of water has adversely affected women's
sanitation and hygiene, as well as increased their health risks and
viglence, which is an indirect wwolation ol Aracles 23 and 266 of Lhe

Constitution.

As zeen rom the evidence on recard, the petitioners are now squatting L1l
the Musangashi Forest Reserve. The photographs at 169-243 of their
bundle of pleadings reveal the condittons under which they are living.
The allegations with regard Lo the vicladons of their rights have not been
challenged in any way. The petitioners were living on the disputed land,
where they had access o housing, and they grew sufficient lood [or their
nourishment, and were ahle to hunt and rear animals like chickens and

goats, from which theyv camed income to survive,

Their children had sccess to cducalion as schools were nearhy, and they
had access to health services from Lhe clinics. The petitioners also
practiced their Lala custom, and the cojoyment of these rights, enhariced
their night to life, freedom of movement and associalion, dignity, self
worth and night to protection of all, These rights are [undamentally
enjoyed by every citizen of this country, and guaranteed by constitution,

except as prescribed by Lhe law



145

To take away these rights as a result of alienation of the land to the 1
respondent, and without fellowing the procedure prescribed by the law,
infritiged an the petitioners” rpghts, and they are now IDP, and |

S

decordingly so find.

Section 3 of the Lands Act, Chapter 184 of the lL.aws of Zambia vests all
land in Zambia in the President on hehalf of the people. It states thar;
%3, 1} Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in
any other law, instrument or document, but subject to this
Act, all land in Zambia shall vest absolutely in the President
and shall be held by him in perpetuity for and on behdlf of
the people of Zambia.
2] Subject to subscction (4} and to any other law, the
President may alienaie land vested in him to any Zambian.
(3] Subject to any other provisions and procedures relating to
alienation of land, the President may alienate Iand to o non-
Zambian under the following circumstances:

fa) where the non-Zambian is o permanent resident in the
Republic of Zambia;

(b} where the non-Zambign is an investor within the
meaning of the Investrment Act or any other law relating
to the promotion of investment in Zambia;

{c] where the non-Zambian has obtained the Presideni's
consent in writing under his hand;

(d) where the non-Zambian is a company registered under
the Companies Act, and less than twenty-five per centum

of the issued shares are owned by non-Zambians;
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fe) where the non-Zambian is a statutory corporation
created by an Act of Parliament;

(f) where the non-Zambian is a co-operative society
registered under the Co-operative Societies Act and less
than twenty-five per centum of the members are non-
Zambians;

fg) where the non-Zambian is a body registered under the
Land (Perpetual Succession) Act and is a nen-profit
making, charitable, religious, educational or
philanthropic organisation or institution which is
registered and is approved by the Minister for the
purposes of this seclion;

fhjwhere the interest or right in gquestion arises out of a
lease, sub-lease, or under-lease, for a period not
exceeding five years, or a tenancy agreement;

fi] where the inierest or right in land is being inherited
upon death or is being transferred under a right of
survivorship or by eperation af law;

(il where the non-Zambian is a Commercial Bank registered
under the Companies Act and the Banking and
Financial Services Act; or

fi) where the non-Zambian is granted a concession or right
under the National Parks and Wildlife Act.

As has been seen above, e President ia empowered under Section 3 (4]
of the Lands Act, Chapter 124 of the Laws of Zambia, to alienate land
held under customary tenitre on the conditions speciiied in the Section.

Thal provision enables the szfeguarding of the rights to land held under
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Cuslomeary tenure, g8 guaranteed by the Constitation and Section 7V of
the Lands Act. As submitter: by the pefitioners, this was recegnized by
the then Minister of Lands, Dy Shirmaponda during the second reading of

the Lands Bill, 1995, when he stated that;

“The fear expressed in this August House last year to the
effect thalt upon passage of the bill, that uvillagers and
peasant farmers would be displaced from the land by wealthy
applicants has been taken care of Sir, by providing in sub
clause 4fc) of Secticn 3 that.....”

The petitioners submit that Seciions 33, 34 and 35 of the Lands and
Deeds Hegistry Act prant secunty of tenure to persons on State land over
that provided to rural communities and using customary land, which
viclates Articles 11{d), 16 and 23 of the Constitution. Artcle 11

puarantees fundamental nights and freedoms. It states that;

“11. It 15 recognised and declared that every person in
Zambla has been and shall confinue to be entified to the
Jundamental rights and freedoms of the individual, that is to
say, the right, whatever his race, place of origin, political
opinions, colour, creed, sex or marital status, but subject to
the limitations contained in this Part, to each and all of the

Jollewing, namely:

{a) tife, Hberty, security of the person and the protection of

the [aw,;



(b) freedom of conscience, expression, assembiy, movement

and association:
fc} protection of young persons from exploitation;

(d} protection for the privacy of his home and other property
and from deprivation of property without compensation;

and the provisions of this Part shall have effect for the
purpose of affording protection to those rights and freedoms
subject to such limitations of that protection as are contained
in this Part, being limitations designed to ensure that the
enjoyment of the said rights and freedoms by any individual
does not prefudice the rights and freedoms of others or the

public interest®,
Article 16 of the Constitution provides that:

“16. (1) Except as provided in this Article, property of any
description shall noi be compulsorily taken possession of, and
interest in or right over property of any description shall not
be compulsorily acqguired, unless by or under the authority of
an Act of Parliament which provides for payment of adegquate
compensation for the property or interest or right to be taken

possession of of deguired.

This Article puarantecs Lhe profecrion from depravation of property, while
Article 23 guarantees persons from discrimination. The petiioners argue
that Scetiens 33, 34 and 35 of the Lands and Deeds Registry Act have
created a situation wherehy persens from rural communilics such as the
petitioners, who have ecoupied and used unregistered customary land for

generations; can lose their cuslomury land rights withoutl compensation,
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onee that tand becomes the subjest of a certificate of title, and transform

them 1nto sguatters.

Reference is made to the case of Raphael Ackim Namung'andu v

Lusaka City Council % wheres it was held that;

“Sguatiers build on Cheir own risk and if the owners of the
land withdraw their permission or licence or if they decide to
demolish a structure built in the absence of any permission or
other lawful relationship, the squatiers' losses though very

much regrettable are not recoverable in a court of law”,

It is further argued that while the issuance of a certificate of title results
in the absohite termination o customary land rights over land to which
it relates, it does not provide any lorm of compensation for communities
who enjoyed the customery lznd rights before the certificate of title was
issued. The submission is that the Supreme Court in case of Goswami
and another v the Commissioner of Lends 1% held thal our
constilution does not countenanse the deprivation of property belonging

to another person wilhou: cempensation,

The petittoners further submit that Scctions 33, 34 and 35 of the Lands
and Deceds Registry Act, have created a situation that make if difficult for
persons o rural communines like the petidoners Lo tecover their
properues once certficates of nitle are issued, in respect ol the land that
they held under customary tenure. They refer to the vase of Tresphord
Chali Emmantuel Kanyoanta Ngandu 59 where the Supreme Court

atated that:

“It is clear from Secilion 33 that once a certificate of title is

issued, it becomes conclusive evidence of ownership of the



land to which it relates. This implies that once d person is
issued with a certificate of title, that title raises a
presumption that the person followed the reguisite procedures
Jor obtaining the certificate of title to the land. This
presumption is rebutiable and can be dislodged under Section

33 itself, notably in the case of fraud”,

IL 15 Lthe petiuoners’ submission that as seen from the Tresphord Chall
case, allegaions of aud hove o he proved on a standard higher than
that of a balance of probasitics, that 18 applicable o civil matters, but
lower than beyond all reasonanle doubt. Therelore, thesce provigions of

the law are uneconstitucional,

Artele 11 of the Conmanrurion guarantees rights and  freedoms
uriversally, and recognmises that all persons are egual before the law. The
right to ownership of land, and protection from its deprivation is
prraranteed. 1 Arlicle [5 In parbeular, Article 23 prosernibhes the
discriminarion of any person. Therelore, the pedtoners have the freedom
to practice their customary rights, which melude land rights held under
customary tenure, It 15 trite thar as Yambians, we wdentify ourselves by

are tribe, which gives us a scrse of belonging.

| have already highlighited that Scction 7 of the Lands Act, Chapter 184
of the Laws of Zambia guaraniees customary land rights. [t has also been
seen that the President tay alicnale land held under customary tenure
pursuant to Section 3 (4) o the sad Lands Aclt, and there are
reguiremnents that have been lanl down in order for such alienation to be
done. Therefore, Secrtion 24 ol the Lands Act provides safeguards to
persons on fnnd held under eusiomeary tenure das enshrined in the

Constiturtion and Seclion 7 of the Lands Act,
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It 18 only when the conditions sel in Section 3 (4] of the Lands Act are
followed, that persans on the land held under customeary may lose their
rights to that land, The petitinners have argued that where thar is the
pusition, neither the Constitution nor the Lands and Deeds Registry Act
provide [or the cornpensation of lhe persons in the rural communities

who are allected,

Indeed, thar is pesition, and the evidence given by BW3 in cross
examination was that where there are peaple on land that is sought to bhe
converted [rum customary mic statulory tenure, the Commissioner of
Lands will ask for & reseutlement plan, before approving the conversion of
the land. Further, thal the Commissioner of Lands has power Lo dechne
a request for conversion where Cere are setllers on the land sought to be
converted from customary tenure into statatory temare, as once the

conversion is approved, it hecomes state land,

It can be seen thart the Lands Act and the Lands and Deeds Registry Act
have provisions that protcet persens on land held under customary
tenure, and the alicnation of land in these arcas cannot be arbitrarily
done. Article 16 of the Corstitution which puarantees thie right lrom
deprivation of praperty in Sub section 2 of that Article has exceptions. IL

atates that;

“2) Nothing contained in or done under the authority of any
law shall be held Lo be inconsistent with or in contravention
of clause (1} to the extent that it is shown that such law
provides for the taking possession or acguisition of any

property or interest therein or right thereover-

fa)in satisfaction of any tax, rate or due;



)

(&) by way of penalty [for breach of any law, whether under

civil process or after conviction of an offence;
fe] in execution of judgments or orders of courts;

fd)upon the attempted removal of the property in guestion

out of or into Zambia in contravention of any law;

fe] as an incident of contract including a lease, tenancy,
mortgage, charge, pledge or bill of sale or of a title deed

to land;

(fl for the purpose of its administration, care or custody on
behalf of and for the benefit of the person entitied to the

beneficial interest therein;

{g) by way of the vesting of enemy property or for the
purpose of the administration of such property;

{R) for the purpose af-

(i) the administration of the property of a deceased person,
a person of unsound mind or a person who has not
attained the age of vighteen years, for the benefit of the

persons entitled to the beneficial interesi therein;

{ii} the administration of the property of a person adjudged
bankrupt or a body corporate in liguidation, for the benefit of
the creditors of such banlrupt or body corporate and, subject
thereto, for the benefit of other persons entitled to the
beneficial interest in Lthe property;



fiii) the administration of the property of a person who has
entered into a deed of arrangement for the benefit of his

creditors; or

fivy] vesting any properiy subfect to a trust in persons

appointed as trustees under the instrument creating the trust

or by a court or, by erder of a court, for the purpose of giving
effect to the trust;

fa)in consegquence of any law relating to the limitation of

actions;

(b} in terms of any law relating to abandoned, unoccupied
unutilised or undevcloped land, as defined in such Iaw;

L.

in terms of any law relating to absent or non-
resident owners, as deflned in such law, of any
property;

in terms of any law relating fo trusts or

settlements;

by reason of a dangerous state or prefudicial to the
health or safely of human beings, animals or

plants,

. as a condition in connection with the graniing of

permission for the utilisation of that or other

property in any particular manner;

for the purpose of or in connection with the

prospecting for.  or exploitation of, minerals
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belonging to the Republic on terms which provide

for the respective interests of the persons affected;

f. in pursuance of a provision for the marketing of
property of that description in the common
interests of the various persons otherwise entitled

to dispose of that property;

g. by way of the taking of a sample for the purposes

of any aw,;

h. by way of the acquisition of the shares, or a class
of shares, in a body corporate on terms agreed to
by the holders of not less than nine-tenths in value

af those shares or that class of shares;

1. where the property consists of an animal, upoen its

being found trospassing or straying;

f. for so long as may be necessary for the purpose af
any examination, investigation, tridl or inquiry or,

in the case of lond, the carrying out thetreon-

of work for the purposc of the conservation of natural

resources af any description; or

k. of agricultura! [levelopment or improvement which
the owner or occupler of the land has been
reguired, and has without reasonable and lawful

excuse refused or failed, to carry out;

L. where the property consists of any licerice or

permit;
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m.where the properiy consists of wild animals
existing in their natural habifail or the carcasses of

wild antmals;

n. where the propeorty, is held by a body corporate
established by law for public purposes and in
which no moneys have been invested other than

moneys proidded by Parliament;

o. where the property is any mineral, mineral oll or
natural gases or any rights accruing by virtue aof
any title or Heence for the purpose of searching for
or mining ony mineral, mineral oil or natural

gases-

upon failure te comply with any provision of such [aw
relating to the title or leence or to the exercise of the rights
aceruing or te the developmont or expleoitation of any mineral,

mineral oil or natural gases; or

p- terms of any low vesting any such property or
rights in the President;

1. for the purpose aof the administration or
disposition of such property or interest or
right by the President in implementatlion of a
comprehenszive land policy or a policy
designed to ensure that the statute law, the
Commen Law and the dectrines of eguity
relaling Lo or affecting the interest in or

rights over land, or angy other interestis or



rights enjoyed by Chiefs and persons claiming
through or under them, shall apply with

substantial uniformity throughout Zambia;

in terms of any law providing for the conversion of titles
to land from frechold to leasehold and the imposition of
any restriction on  subdivision, assignment or sub-

letting;™

Thus, going by the above, Sere s pothing in the law thal prohibits the
conversion of land held urder customary tenure into statatory tenure.
The protection for persons alfected by such alienation is that they should
be catered for by being resculod, and where appropriate compensation be
awarded, as a way of etz g thal their rights are not violated. The
argument that Sections 33, 34 anc 35 of the Lands and Deeds Registry

Act are unconsatutional therssfors Ll

The argument in the alternatve 1+ that Sectons 33, 34 and 35 of the

Lands and Deeds Registry Aol dre jnconsistent with SBeetion. 7 of the

Lands Act. This is on the Lass (Dol these sections violate the property
rights of rural communities in seciipation of land held under customary
lenure, as protected under Sechior 7 ol the Lands Act.

It 18 argued that the Lands Aot whieh ig later law having been enacted in
14435 by implication repedled Sentiong 33, 34 and 33 of the 1949, Lands
and Deeds Registry Acl, as Section 33 neither recognises customary land
rights nor makes & regisicred proprietor of the land subjecl lo prior
unregistered customary lardd rights, [t instead only makes the registered
proprietor subject o the (nleresis of a proprietor clalming under a

current prior certificate of tiie,
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The submission is alsy thal Sceotion 35 ol the Lands and Deeds Regisioy

Act ‘has by implication been renealed by Section 7 of the Lands Act, as

Scction 32 of the Londs arno Deeds Registry Act prownides for the
reatriction onogjectmont aller the issuance of a certificate of btle; and it
dees not ascknowledpr prinr customary rights, among the permitted
exceptions, for bringing activns for (e recovery of land.

Heliance is placed on the case of Il the matter of Section 53 (i) of the
Corrupt Practices Act, No, 10 of 1980 and in the matier of Articles
20 (7] and 29 of the Consiituiion and in the matter betureen:
Thomas Mumba - Applicant and the People - respondent % where it

was stated that;

“Under ordinary inferpretation of statutes, one would have
said that the latest .ot (inp iedly repealed or amended the old
Act but there can be o implied amendment to the
Constitution”,

Seclions 33 and 35 of the Londs and Deeds Registry Act provide as

follows:

“33. A Cerlificate of Title shall be conclusive as from the date
of its issue and wpon oand after the {issue thereof,
notwithstanding thc evistonce in any ofher person of any
estate or interesi, whether derived by grant from the
President or otherwise, which but for Parts II to VII might be
held to be paramouni or to hawve priority; the Registered
Proprietor of the [and comprised in such Certificate shall,
except in case of fraud, hold the same subject onily to such

encumbrances, lens, eslatcs or interests as may be shown by



such Certificate of Title and any encumbrances, llens, estates
or interests created dficer thea issue of such Certificate as may
be notified on the folium o the Register reldting to such land
bt absolutely free [rom aill other encumbrdances, liens, estates

or interests whatsocver:

fe) Except the estate or interest of a proprietor claiming the
same land under o -~urrent prior Certificate of Title
issued under t/e provizions of Parts IIT to VII; and

(B) Except so far o= regords the omission or misdescription
of any right of way or other easement crecafed in or

existing upon ony land; ard

{c) Except so far as regars any portion of land that may be
erroneously includec  in the Certificate of Title,
evidencing the title f such Registered Proprietor by

wrong descriplion of ircels or of boundaries.

35, After land has hecome | he subject of a Certificate of Title,
no title therelo, or to any right, privilege, or easement in,
upon or aover the samne, she !l be acguired by possession or user
adverselyy to or in derogaiion of the tifle of the Registersd
Proprieior™.

Scction 7 of the Lands Act »n the ol oor land provides that;

*7. (1) Notwithstanding sulsection (2] of section thirty-two but
subject to section nine, e ry piece of land in a customary
area which immedic el b ore the commencement af this Act
was vested in or held by ony person under customary tenure

shall continue to be 50 hel | and recognised and any provision



of thiz Act or any ciher laow shall not be so construed as fo
infringe arny customary richt ernjoyed by that person before

the commencement of this ck

(2) Notwithstanding section thirtytwo, the rights and
privileges of any person to hold land under customary tenure
shall be recognised and any such holding under the
customary law applicable o the area in which a person has
setiled or intends lo seftic shall not be construed as an
infringement of any prowvi-ion of this Act or any other law

except for a right or obiiytion which may arise under any

other law®.
I have already aliuded to 20 tact t0 - a8 President under Section 2 (4] af
lhe Lands Acl may abenale are o rhat 15 helgd under customary law,

silbject to the rediricions in the se ton, and in line with the regulations
in Statutory Instrument Ne 2 of 1994, the Lands {Customary Tenure)
(Comversion) Repalaftions, 1996, 1 s Llrite thal when land is converted
fraom customary into statutary ten ¢, a certificate of title may be issued

in respect of thar land.

OUnece a certificate ol e ig {ssucd 1he provisions of SBections 33 and 35
of the Lands and Deeds Rewlsthry 200 kel in. Bection ¥ of the Lands Act
recognises the rights (hal oersor holding the land under customary
tenure have. As long as i coolinues to be held under customary
tenure, Section 7 af the Lands Act on be valled to aid, to assist a person
helding land under thar teriure, I land Lo be converted into statutory
lenure Irom customary, temive, (e procedure in Seclion 3{4) of the

Lands Act and the reguiations thers nder need 1o be complied with.



In that procedure, is the cquiren ol o consull persons who hold the
wind under customary teoure thet Is sought to be converted into
statutory tenure, The Commissiono” of Lands 18 empowered by law 1o
decline conversion where (heec a0 seitlers on the land sought to be
converted, and in such sog, e wil be no conversion, and ng

certificate of fitle can e (ssecl,

Asg secn from the Tresphord Chali cas relied on by the petitioners, once
a ceriheate of ttle is issued, thers 15 2 presumption that all the correct
procedure in aceguiring il hos been lollowed. However, this presumption
15 rebuttable, on the coriilicats ol lille being challenged. Therefore
Sections 33 and 35 of (he Landy and Deeds Regisiry Act are not
mmeconsistent with Section 7 ol the Tands Act, as the said seclions only set
11, onee Lhere is @ certficete of title relating land, and not when land is

neld under customary Llencee. Tha' o laim will therefore fadl,

The petiioners also submit that t roking over of their land which was
held under custormary lenure smounls Lo compulsory acquisition of land,
and therefore vielated Acticle 16 ol e Constitution and Sections 3, 5, 6,
T and 25 of the Lands Acqusition Act, Chapter 189 of the Laws of
Zambia. It s submuced lhal Secrian 7 of the Lands Act recogniscs
customary land rights and helding

That these rights, jusl Tike thmo el under leasehold tenure can be

talen away to pave way o land 1 ocec developments or the creation of

farm blocks, if the legal and constilvdipnal requirements are met for such

taking or loss, Kelving oo he cos o Patel v The Attorney-General i4
the petitioners argite that e wmhkin g away of theircustomary land by the
State without their consenn, amounls e compulsory acquisition of the

land,
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[t wras held in thar caze thy

"Although we have nol pet reached the stage where any
property of the applicunt’s hos been compulsorily acquired, T
am satisfied on the evide oo that property belonging to the
applicant has been folen possession of and that this was

done without his consent. It was therefore, taken possession

of compulsorily”.
[t is argued that the b ardl 5 respondents took over the disputed land
which belenped to the ool Twneras. anel which was established as their
hames, and that BRW? conliimed 10 his teslimmony thal Farm Mo F/9397,
Central Province, imehades all of 1he digpated land, He larther teslilied
that there were local peapls on eriner side of the dambo known as the
Mulemmbe river. The petificnars comiend that the taking over the disputed

land was instigated by the ¢ respondent, and it was effected by the 75

and B4 respondents, who wove the disputed land to the 15 respondent.

It is stated that neither the taditanal Chief, the 6% respondent as the
local authority or indead the Presideni abtained the petitioners® consent
before the alienation of the land te the 1% respandent, and this is
cvidenced by the testimony of the aetitioners who stated that they were
not consulted, The submiccicn is that m the caze of Mpongwe Farms
Limited (in receivership) and two olhers v the Attorney General 19

the court noted thac;

“The state passed the legic-lation and devised statutory
procedure fo govern the compulsory deguisition of land. For
whatever purpose such praoperty is deguired, the State must



follow that Iaw an

entails™.
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reguired by section [Tre (0 be given to yield up possession of
such property on tho cxpi otion of the period specified in the
notice, which period =huil e not less than two months from

the date of service o/ Lo nolice:

Provided that wherc (he Uroesidont certifies that the property
in guestion is urgenily 1 lrec, the persons aforesaid may be
required to yield ' posszession of the properiy on the
expiration of such lo=-cr poriod as the President may direct,

(2} On the e«pirciion o the period referred to im
subsection (1) the Prosidont and all persons authorised by him
may take possession o suciu property”,

The evidence in this ma oo sows (hatb there was no intention to
compulsorily acquire the oo | lane of which the petitioners were in
possession, and were Usin: e cue o rmary lenure, What appears to
have happened is Wal larn oocl s wwere Crealed in the area, and this can
be seen from the maps on e oo bog o produce. These maps show that
the Local authority provis e Eowe . mambers to the farms thart

were created, and the map wero stampod by Chief Muchinda signifying

that he had censented Lo (0 e croation of the [arm blocks, in 2002, way
after the land had beern cor ©ond lienated Lo the T# respondent in
4948,

[t can be said thar the land 1 Espule was converted from customary
into statutory tenure in lire 70 The (vernment policy to create [arm
blocks, It will be neted th iocleriments on record, that the Bth
respondent as the oeal iy, dil net invoke the provisions of
regulation 4 of Statutory 1 sl cat Mo 849 of 1996 to convert the land

from customary into seatul oo e, |other, before there was approval



by Senior Chief Muchinda (1 creation of the farm block in his area,

the farms had been proviso wimbe e, and were being gaven out

Inn fmet, the A respondent oo omended that the = respondent be only
givent 1300 hectares of lanil, bt an application was made by the 14
respondent, which was for | v thie Commissioner of Lands to the
hMinister of Lands for the | 7ol heotares, 230 hectares having
been approved, giving a toial o' 2020 hectares. In that approval, the

Chiels congent for rhe excese wes not nbtained, and neither was the

petitioners' as persons whi wool| he offected by the allocation of the
land.

There was abrogation of 11 0 sedural requirements, and even the Lst
respondent’s application it g o convert the land - from
cusiomary 1o stamitory + oo wos arn application for state land.

This [lew in the teeth of the festiimorny given by RW3, who told the court
that according to the Land. | b, Lhe 191 respondent was 1ssued with
a certificate of title 11 & cu v ares which had 4 right of ocoupancy

attached, which served as -

There was blatan disregard o peticinners’ customeary rights when the
land was alienated o the TRls mid at the eentre ol this were
the 6 and the 15 reapoi o) wetr the Bih orespondenl who is the
ultimate in land alienstion ol (o sati=i Rimself that all the procedural
requirements had becr sati- 00 (he choonments on record show that the
procedural requirernents 1o LTI il vet the 8% respondent in
dereliction of duty, approve | (10 onversion of land.

That officc being the cne roumts e aeaalf eof the president in land

alicnation matters, is ultim paroo e for the petinoners’ plight. It
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given by BRW3 was that it 1= ol loar as o whether such farm block was
in fact created, even thouglh he 18 im0 notice o produce show that
senior Chiel Muchmds zay 5 [rova r the creanon, the [acl 15 hat
the pelitioriers were displac | as » resuic of the 15 respondent acquiring

a certificate of title to tle 1

The &+ respeondent appro converaon of the land without the

petitioners being consulled, sssuiung in them being left homeless, While

the 4= respondent who s 11 - corrent owner of the disputed land, 1s not
the entity that initlally «p d b eanverion of the land, and Lo whom
the principles of bona fide urchaser [br value applied, the principles

equally apply to subsecuent surchesers.

While the property chango b from (He 19 respondent into the 2nd
and 371 respondents’ hands  clmc the £ 0 respondent acqguired it, the 4th
respondent still had @ duty (o ensvre that it enquired on the petitioners’
interest m the land, belore - aurchased i1 and that it followed procedurc
for evictinig the petiticress i s v though 1t had & certilicate ol
title for the land, whicl g = face of 15, 18 evidence of ownership ol the

land, unless challenge:d.

Order 12 Rule 1 (6] of the gl Cowrt Hules, Chapter 27 of the Laws

of Zambia provides U=

6] In case no appoorance shall be entered in an action for
the recovery of lar uithin the sime Hmited by the writ for
appearance, or if an (ppearance be entered but the defence be
limited to part only, he plaintifi shall be at liberty to enter a

Judgment that the orzan whese title is asserted in the writ
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